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I. INTRODUCTION

1. This arbitration concerns the loss of hundreds of millions of dollars (US) in investments

made by Carlyle Commodity Management L.L.C. and certain related entities

(collectively, “Carlyle” or “Claimants”) in the Kingdom of Morocco (“Morocco”), as a

result of the Moroccan Government’s (“Government” or “Respondent”) interference with

the business and operations of Morocco’s sole oil refinery, Société Anonyme Marocaine

de l’Industrie du Raffinage (“SAMIR”).  SAMIR is the entity involved with all of

Claimants’ investments in Morocco. Without any notice to Carlyle, the Government froze

SAMIR’s bank accounts, seized control of SAMIR’s refining and storage facilities, and

directed SAMIR personnel to sell the Carlyle-owned commodities being held in

SAMIR’s storage tanks to local Moroccan distributors. Moreover, the Government swept

the cash in SAMIR’s bank accounts – a substantial portion of which constituted cash

proceeds from prior sales of Carlyle-owned commodities. These cash proceeds were

owed, but had not yet been transferred, to Carlyle. Finally, the Government instructed the

local Moroccan distributors to pay the Government directly for the distributors’

purchases of commodities from SAMIR, including those owned by Carlyle. As

demonstrated below, these actions constitute clear violations of the U.S. – Morocco Free

Trade Agreement (“FTA”)1: in particular, violations of Article 10.5.1 of the FTA, which

requires that Morocco accord covered investments fair and equitable treatment, and

Article 10.6, which prohibits the expropriation of an investor’s property without prompt,

adequate, and effective compensation.

2. Beginning in February 2015, Carlyle and SAMIR engaged in a series of investment

transactions (collectively, the “Transactions” or “Investments”) whereby Carlyle

purchased and took title to oil and refined products (collectively, “Commodities”) that

were to be stored in SAMIR’s tanks.  The Investments were governed by various

documents, including a Master Commodity Transaction Agreement (“MCTA”), a

Commodities Storage Agreement (“CSA”), a $600M MCTA Term Commitment Letter

(“Commitment Letter”), a Summary of Terms and Conditions for Crude Oil Purchase and

1 See U.S. – Morocco Free Trade Agreement (CL-0001-ENG). 



Sale Transaction(s) (“Terms and Conditions”), and deal-specific transaction 

confirmations (“Confirmations”) (collectively, the “Investment Agreements”) between 

Carlyle and SAMIR.2   The Government expressly authorized the structure of the 

Investments in January 2015 and remained apprised of the Investments throughout and 

beyond that year.  SAMIR, in fact, obtained approval from the Government before 

entering into each individual Transaction with Carlyle. Between February and August 

2015, Carlyle and SAMIR entered into twenty-six Investments, sixteen of which remain 

outstanding and comprise the bases of Claimants’ claims. 

3. Carlyle’s Investments proceeded largely according to plan until August 2015, when the 

Government froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, seized control of refinery operations, 

directed SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s Commodities into the open market, prevented Carlyle 

from ever receiving any of the proceeds from the unauthorized sales of its Commodities 

or from making any other business arrangements that would allow for such payments, 

arranged to sweep the proceeds from the unauthorized sales of Carlyle’s Commodities 

from SAMIR’s accounts, and instructed local distributors to pay the Government directly 

for Carlyle’s Commodities.  Such actions were wrongful and wholly without regard for 

Carlyle’s rights; they resulted in hundreds of millions of dollars (US) in losses to Carlyle. 

Up to the time of the Government’s actions, SAMIR declared its full intent and capacity 

to pay Carlyle for the Commodities.  However, by freezing SAMIR’s accounts, and then 

subsequently preventing the recapitalization of SAMIR, the Government prevented 

Carlyle from obtaining compensation for its losses. Instead, the Government diverted the 

proceeds of Carlyle’s Commodities from SAMIR’s frozen accounts into the Moroccan 

Treasury.  In January 2016, Carlyle discovered that the Government had taken the funds 

SAMIR had earmarked to pay Carlyle. 

4. Throughout the fall of 2015, SAMIR repeatedly attempted to negotiate with the 

Government to unfreeze its bank accounts so that it could make payments to Carlyle.  For 

2 Amended and Restated Master Commodity Transaction Agreement, 22 June 2015, (Witness Statement of Matthew 
Olivo (“Olivo Statement”), Ex. 3) (MO-0003), Amended and Restated Commodities Storage Agreement, 22 June 
2015, (Olivo Statement, Ex. 4) (MO-0004), $600M MCTA Term Commitment Letter, 22 June 2015, (Olivo 
Statement, Ex. 5) (MO-0005), Summary of Terms and Conditions for Crude Oil Purchase and Sale Transaction(s) 
(Olivo Statement, Ex. 6) (MO-0006), and deal-specific transaction confirmations (see, e.g. Olivo Statement, Ex. 7) 
(MO-0007). 



example, SAMIR’s majority shareholder and Saudi billionaire, Sheikh Mohamed Hussein 

Al-Amoudi (“Sheikh Al-Amoudi”), offered to personally inject hundreds of millions of 

dollars into SAMIR to settle any unpaid debt the refinery may have owed to the 

Government and to secure the release of SAMIR’s frozen funds. Despite SAMIR’s 

attempts to resolve the dispute, however, the Government did not negotiate with SAMIR 

in good faith and instead chose to place SAMIR under severe financial stress. As a result, 

SAMIR was forced into liquidation proceedings on March 21, 2016. 

5. Due to the Government’s wrongful interference in the business and operations of 

SAMIR, Carlyle, to this day, has not been compensated by the Government for the 

hundreds of millions of U.S. dollars’ worth of Commodities that comprised the 

Investments. The Government’s actions unquestionably have deprived Carlyle of any 

chance of recovering for its losses from the Investments. As discussed in detail herein, 

the Government’s actions caused permanent harm to Carlyle’s Investments in Morocco in 

breach of the FTA. 

6. Carlyle submits with this Memorial the witness statements of: 1)  

 2) Matthew Olivo, 

who served as Director of Structured Investments of Carlyle Commodity Management 

L.L.C.  (“CCM”) from 2012 to 2016; 3) Christopher Zuech, who served as Chief 

Operating Officer of CCM from 2005 to 2016; 4) Vishal Suvagiya, who served as a 

senior commodities structuring associate at CCM from June 2015 to July 2016; and 5) 

Michael Petrick, who served as Managing Director and Head of Global Market Strategies 

at The Carlyle Group L.P. from 2010 to 2016. 

7. Carlyle also submits with this Memorial the expert witness reports of: 1) Richard E. 

Walck CPA/ABV/CFF/CGMA, CMA, CFM, a partner and co-founder of Global 

Financial Analytics LLC; and 2) Steven D. Graybill, president and co-founder of 

Downstream Advisors, Inc.. 

8. Finally, Carlyle submits with this Memorial Exhibits 1-13 and Authorities 1-48. 

9. In this Memorial, Carlyle first describes the parties to the arbitration (Section II). Next, 

Carlyle explains that Carlyle is a protected investor with protected investments under the 

terms of the FTA and ICSID Convention and that the arbitral tribunal has jurisdiction 
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over this matter (Section III). Carlyle then sets out the factual background to the dispute, 

followed by a legal analysis of the Government’s breaches of the FTA (Sections IV and 

V). Last, Carlyle particularizes the consequences of the Government’s breaches, 

quantifies the damages inflicted on Carlyle, and sets forth Carlyle’s requested relief 

(Sections VI and VII). 

II. THE PARTIES 

A. The Claimants 

10. The Claimants are The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. 

(“CIM”), CCM, TC Group, L.L.C., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., Celadon 

Commodities Fund, LP, and Celadon Partners, LLC.  All of the Claimants are entities 

incorporated in the State of Delaware in the United States of America. The Carlyle Group 

L.P., which is the ultimate parent of all other Claimants, is a global investment firm with 

assets under management across hundreds of investment vehicles. The core business of 

The Carlyle Group L.P. and its affiliated businesses and investment vehicles is to invest 

wisely and create value on behalf of its investors. Investors rely on The Carlyle Group 

L.P. to achieve premium returns on invested capital. 

11. As explained above, Claimants made their first investment in Morocco in February 2015 

through their initial Transaction with SAMIR. After an initially positive experience with 

SAMIR and numerous successful Transactions, Claimants continued to enter into 

Transactions with SAMIR until August 2015, thereby making additional investments in 

Morocco. Claimants’ Investments were made through the following entities: 

• Celadon Partners, LLC,3 a Delaware limited liability company, is the general 

partner of Celadon Commodities Fund, LP, a Delaware limited partnership that 

owns 99.96% of the participating shares in Celadon Commodities, Ltd., a Cayman 

limited company that owns 100% of the participating shares in VMF Special Purpose 

Vehicle SPC – VMF Q1 Segregated Portfolio (“VMF”), a Cayman segregated 

portfolio company that invested in Morocco’s only refinery, SAMIR. At all relevant 

times, CCM acted as the exclusive investment adviser to Celadon Commodities, Ltd., 

3 Celadon Partners, LLC is the sole partner of Celadon Commodities Fund, LP, whose limited partnership 
interest is owned 97.06% by TC Group, L.L.C. and 2.94 % by TC Group Investment Holdings, LP. 



Celadon Commodities Fund, LP, and VMF, and thus exercised control over the 

investments and other business decisions made by these entities. 

• Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C., a Delaware limited liability company, is 

the sole parent company of (and directly owns and controls 100% of the economic 

interest in) Carlyle Global Market Strategies Commodities Funding 2014-1, Ltd. and 

Carlyle Global Market Strategies Commodities Funding 2015-1, Ltd., which are both 

Cayman limited companies that were parties to the MCTA and CSA with SAMIR. 

B. The Respondent 

12. The Respondent is the Kingdom of Morocco, represented in this matter by the 

Government of Morocco. The Government has acted or failed to act in connection with 

the events giving rise to this arbitration, including through the following agencies and 

instrumentalities:4 

• The Moroccan Foreign Exchange Office (Office des Changes) 

• The Moroccan Tax Administration 

• The Moroccan Ministry of Economy and Finance 

• The Moroccan Office of Customs and Indirect Taxes 

• The Treasury of the Moroccan Kingdom 

III. THE TRIBUNAL HAS JURISDICTION OVER THESE CLAIMS UNDER BOTH 
THE FTA AND THE ICSID CONVENTION 

13. Under Article 10 of the FTA, an arbitral tribunal has jurisdiction over a claim that the 

respondent has breached one or more obligations of Article 10, Section A, which concern 

“measures adopted or maintained by a Party relating to . . . (a) investors of the other 

Party; (b) covered investments; and (c) with respect to Articles 10.8 and 10.10, all 

investments in the territory of the Party.”5  As long as six months have passed since the 

events giving rise to the claim, which is the case here, and both contracting states to the 

4 To the extent that other governmental entities are/were involved in the actions or omissions affecting Claimants’ 
Investments in Morocco, Claimants are not privy to such information and retain the right to include such entities in 
the future as any evidence of their wrongful actions/omissions is discovered. 
5 See FTA art 10.1, 10.15 (CL-0001-ENG).   



FTA are also parties to the ICSID Convention, which is also the case here, the claimant 

may proceed with its claim under the ICSID Convention.6  Further, the jurisdiction of the 

Centre “extend[s] to any legal dispute arising directly out of an investment, between a 

Contracting State . . . and a national of another Contracting State.”7 

14. For the reasons discussed herein, the claims set forth by Claimants in their Request for 

Arbitration (“RFA”) meet all of the jurisdictional requirements of both the FTA and the 

ICSID Convention.8 

A. Claimants Are Investors Under the FTA and the ICSID Convention 

15. Article 10, Schedule C of the FTA defines an “investor of a Party” to mean “a Party or 

state enterprise thereof, or a national or an enterprise of a Party, that concretely attempts 

to make, is making, or has made an investment in the territory of the other Party[.]”  An 

“enterprise of a Party” is further defined in Article 10, Schedule C to mean “an enterprise 

constituted or organized under the law of a Party[.]”9 

16. Because all of the Claimants are enterprises organized under the laws of the State of 

Delaware in the United States, and the United States is a Party to the FTA, each Claimant 

is an “enterprise of a Party” subject to the protections of Article 10 of the FTA.10 

17. In addition, both the United States and Respondent are contracting states to the ICSID 

Convention.11 Claimants also comply with Article 25(2)(b) of the ICSID Convention 

because they are “National(s) of another Contracting State.”12 Specifically, each of the 

6 See FTA art 10.15.3(a) (CL-0001-ENG). 
7 See Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States (opened for 
signature 18 March 1965, entered into force 14 October 1966) (“ICSID Convention”) art 25(1). 
8 The FTA entered into force on 1 January 2006. See (C-0001-ENG). 
9 See FTA art 10.27 (CL-0001-ENG). 
10 See Claimants’ Certificates of Formation. (C-0002-ENG). 
11 The United States signed the ICSID Convention on 27 August 1965 and ratified it on 10 June 1966. The ICSID 
Convention entered into force with respect to the United States on 14 October 1966. Respondent signed the ICSID 
Convention on 11 October 1965 and ratified it on 11 May 1967. The ICSID Convention entered into force with 
respect to Respondent on 10 June 1967. Information available at: 
https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Documents/icsiddocs/List%20of%20Contracting%20States%20and%20Other%20Sig
natories%20of%20the%20Convention%20-%20Latest.pdf (last visited on 26 July 2019). 
12 Under Article 25(2)(b) of the ICSID Convention, a “National of another Contracting State” means “any juridical 
person which had the nationality of a Contracting State other than the State party to the dispute on the date on which 
the parties consented to submit such dispute to conciliation or arbitration and any juridical person which had the 
nationality of the Contracting State party to the dispute on that date and which, because of foreign control, the 
parties have agreed should be treated as a national of another Contracting State for the purposes of this Convention.” 

https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Documents/icsiddocs/List%20of%20Contracting%20States%20and%20Other%20Signatories%20of%20the%20Convention%20-%20Latest.pdf
https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Documents/icsiddocs/List%20of%20Contracting%20States%20and%20Other%20Signatories%20of%20the%20Convention%20-%20Latest.pdf
https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Documents/icsiddocs/List%20of%20Contracting%20States%20and%20Other%20Signatories%20of%20the%20Convention%20-%20Latest.pdf
https://icsid.worldbank.org/en/Documents/icsiddocs/List%20of%20Contracting%20States%20and%20Other%20Signatories%20of%20the%20Convention%20-%20Latest.pdf


Claimants was a national of the United States at the time it consented to submit its 

dispute to arbitration under the FTA (i.e., the date of the submission of the RFA on July 

31, 2018).13 Therefore, Claimants are entitled to proceed with this arbitration under the 

ICSID Convention. 

B. Claimants’ Commodities and Contractual Put Rights Constitute Investments 
under the FTA 

18. Article 10 of the FTA applies “with respect to a Party, [to] an investment (as defined in 

Article 10.27 (Investment – Definitions)) in its territory of an investor of the other Party 

in existence on the date of entry into force of this Agreement or established, acquired, or 

expanded thereafter.”14 Article 10.27 of the FTA defines “investment” as “every asset 

that an investor owns or controls, directly or indirectly, that has the characteristics of an 

investment, including such characteristics as the commitment of capital or other 

resources, the expectation of gain or profit, or the assumption of risk[.]” 

19. Claimants “own or controlled directly or indirectly” the investments in Morocco. As 

explained in Section II.A. above, a number of Claimants, namely TC Group, L.L.C., TC 

Group Investment Holdings, L.P., Celadon Partners, LLC, and Celadon 

Commodities Fund, LP, owned (directly or indirectly) VMF, an entity that invested in 

Morocco through SAMIR.15 In addition, at all relevant times, CCM acted as the 

exclusive investment adviser to Celadon Commodities Fund, LP, and VMF (and 

VMF’s parent, Celadon Commodities, Ltd.), and, thus, exercised control over the 

investments and other business decisions made by these entities.16  Further, CIM directly 

owns and controls 100% of the economic interest in Carlyle Global Market Strategies 

Commodities Funding 2014-1, Ltd. and Carlyle Global Market Strategies Commodities 

Funding 2015-1, Ltd., the entities that were parties to the MCTA and CSA with SAMIR. 

Finally, The Carlyle Group L.P. is the ultimate parent of all the other Claimants. 

20. Additionally, in accordance with the Investment Agreements, Claimants retained 

exclusive ownership of and title to the Commodities that were the subject of the 

13 See Claimants’ Certificates of Formation (C-0002-ENG). Respondent consented in the FTA to the submission of 
disputes arising under Chapter 10 of the FTA to the Centre. 
14 See FTA art 1.3 (CL-0001-ENG).   
15 See Olivo Statement, Ex. 3 (MO-0003). 
16 Witness Statement of Michael Petrick (“Petrick Statement”), para 3. 



agreements unless and until Claimants expressly agreed to sell Claimants’ Commodities 

to SAMIR in exchange for the payment by SAMIR of the agreed-upon purchase price 

plus the accrued investment premium owed to Claimants. Title to the Commodities did 

not transfer to SAMIR until the required payment was made to Claimants in full. 

21. Specifically, the MCTA expressly provides, among other things, that Claimants are “the 

owner[s] of Commodities . . . unless and until such time as the Commodities are sold to 

[SAMIR] pursuant to section 3(d) [of the MCTA].” See MCTA § 9 (MO-0003). 

Similarly, the CSA expressly provides, among other things, that: (i) Claimants “ha[ve] 

full exclusive title . . . of the Commodities,” and that “title to Commodities w[ould] not 

pass to [SAMIR] in any circumstances” unless and until they were purchased from 

Claimants by SAMIR (CSA § 3(a)); (ii) SAMIR was prohibited from “us[ing] the 

Commodities” (CSA § 3(b)); (iii) SAMIR could not dispose of Claimants’ Commodities 

without obtaining Claimants’ prior, written consent (CSA § 4(a)); and (iv) “[O]wnership 

of the Commodities shall not pass to [SAMIR] and the [Claimants] shall remain the sole 

owner of the Commodities.” (CSA § 5(b)) (MO-0004). 

22. Claimants’ investments in Morocco also complied with all of the remaining 

characteristics of a protected investment under Article 10.27 of the FTA because they 

required Claimants to: 

(i) Commit capital to Morocco: Claimants committed more than US$400 million 

through the irrevocable letters of credit issued to purchase the Commodities that 

were stored in SAMIR’s tanks in accordance with the Investment Agreements; 

(ii) For a significant duration: After months of Transactions, Claimants and 

SAMIR executed a commitment letter in which Carlyle committed to engage in 

commodities investments for a minimum of three years;17 

(iii) With the expectation of gain or profit: Under the Investment Agreements, 

SAMIR was required to pay Claimants an accrued investment premium, based on 

the length of time that Carlyle’s irrevocable letter of credit used to fund the initial 

17 MCTA Term Commitment Letter, 1 (MO-0005).  



purchase remained open, and the length of time between Carlyle’s closing of the 

letter of credit and its resale of the Commodities to SAMIR; and 

(iv) While assuming a risk: Carlyle assumed the risk of loss of Claimants’ 

Commodities (or the diminution in value of Claimants’ Commodities in a 

situation in which Claimants were forced to sell the Commodities to a party other 

than SAMIR), and Carlyle indeed lost the entire amount of sixteen of their 

Investments in Morocco due to the wrongful conduct of the Government.18 

23. International investment tribunals have repeatedly and consistently found property and 

contractual rights such as those enjoyed by Claimants under the Investment Agreements – 

wherein claimants sold commodities to a local entity over a period of time with the 

expectation of gain and at some risk – to be an “investment” as defined by the relevant 

treaty and to meet the jurisdictional requirements of the ICSID Convention. For example, 

in Deutsche Bank, an investment arbitration under the Germany-Sri Lanka Bilateral 

Investment Treaty, the tribunal found that a twelve-month hedging agreement between a 

German bank and the State-owned oil company to reduce its exposure to volatility in 

relation to the importation of 100,000 barrels of oil also met the jurisdictional 

requirements of the underlying treaty and the ICSID Convention.19 In that case, the 

treaty’s definition of “investments” included “every kind of asset . . . in particular . . . c) 

claims to money which have been used to create an economic value or claims to any 

performance having an economic value and associated with an investment.”20 The 

tribunal concluded that the hedging agreement was an asset under the treaty and that it 

18 In fact, it is because Claimants assumed this risk that Claimants suffered a significant loss – the loss of the total 
value of sixteen (16) transactions – due to Respondent’s wrongful conduct. As has been accepted by various 
investment tribunals “the very existence of the dispute is an indication of risk.” See Deutsche Bank v. Democratic 
Republic of Sri Lanka, ICSID Case No. ARB/09/02 (“Deutsche Bank”), Award (31 October 2012) para 301 (CL-
0002-ENG) (citing Professor Schreuer’s, The ICSID Convention: A Commentary (2nd Ed.) art 25 para 163). See 
also Fedax N.V. v. The Republic of Venezuela, ICSID Case ARB/96/3 (“Fedax”), Decision of the Tribunal on 
Objections to Jurisdiction (11 July 1997) para 40 (stating as follows with respect to whether or not promissory notes 
could be considered an “investment” under Article 25 of the ICSID Convention: “[n]or can the Tribunal accept the 
argument that, unlike the case of an investment, there is no risk involved in this transaction: the very existence of a 
dispute as to the payment of the principal and interest evidences the risk that the holder of the notes has taken.”) 
(CL-0003-ENG). As in Fedax, the very existence of a dispute regarding Carlyle’s loss of the Commodities and other 
contractual rights is evidence of the risk undertaken by Claimants in connection with the Investments. 
19 Deutsche Bank paras 284-285, 292-312 (CL-0002-ENG). 
20 Id., para 284. 



was “a claim to money which has been used to create an economic value.”21 As in 

Deutsche Bank, Carlyle’s Investment Agreements involve the provision of an asset, crude 

oil, that was necessary for the economic activity of the local company, including, in this 

case, the very functioning of the Moroccan state’s only oil refinery, 22 as well as other 

benefits, such as providing the ready availability of the crude oil for repurchase and/or 

sale to the local market.23 

24. Article 10.27 of the FTA also lists various examples of qualifying “investments,” such as 

“(a) an enterprise; (b) shares, stock, and other forms of equity participation in an 

enterprise; (c) bonds, debentures, other debt instruments, and loans; (d) futures, options, 

and other derivatives; (e) turnkey, construction, management, production, concession, 

revenue-sharing, and other similar contracts; (f) intellectual property rights; (g) licenses, 

authorizations, permits, and similar rights conferred pursuant to domestic law; and (h) 

other tangible or intangible, movable or immovable property, and related property rights, 

such as leases, mortgages, liens, and pledges.”  Claimants’ Investment Agreements 

include options, and therefore clearly fall under the category of “futures, options, and 

other derivatives” reflected in Article 10.27(d) of the FTA. In addition, the Commodities 

are movable property, which clearly qualify under 10.27(h) of the FTA. 

25. As stated above, between February and August 2015, Claimants and SAMIR entered into 

twenty-six Transactions – sixteen of which remain open and unpaid. These sixteen 

transactions involved, among other things, the storage of the Commodities in tanks at 

21 Id., para 285. 
22 See Expert Report of Steven D. Graybill  (“Graybill Report”), para 19. 
23 See also GEA Group Aktiengesellschaft v. Ukraine, ICSID Case No. ARB/08/16, (“GEA”) Award (31 March 
2011) (CL-0004-ENG) In GEA, a German company concluded a “Conversion Contract” pursuant to which it 
supplied diesel and naphtha fuel to Oriana, a local company owned by the Government of Ukraine, and was paid in 
kind with finished products. Id., paras 44, 51-52. Ukraine argued that the “Conversion Contract” was no more than a 
sales agreement. Id., para 148. However, the tribunal rejected this argument: “the Conversion Contract was more 
than just goods against a tolling fee – it established a relationship of “common interest” whereby KCH (and, 
ultimately GEA) would, among other things, assist with delivery of logistics and pay for Ukrainian domestic freight, 
resolve customs issues, and supply the Oriana plant with necessary materials.” Id., para 149.  The tribunal ultimately 
concluded that the Conversion Contract constituted an investment within the meaning of the underlying BIT and 
Article 25 of the ICSID Convention. Id., paras 149-151. As in GEA, Claimants’ Investment Agreements with 
SAMIR in Morocco, and the property and other rights associated with them, comply with the definition of protected 
“investments” under the FTA. In both cases, the underlying contracts contained important features in addition to the 
supply of commodities to the local entity. In the case of Carlyle’s Investment Agreements, Carlyle purchased and 
stored in SAMIR’s tanks crude oil and other products from various suppliers, which were readily available for 
repurchase by SAMIR, in turn making possible the smooth operation and functioning of the refinery. 



SAMIR’s refinery in Morocco, pursuant to which Claimants acquired 959,999 metric ton 

equivalents of Commodities in the aggregate, and paid US$429,295,148 in the aggregate. 

For each Transaction, Claimants and SAMIR entered into a confirmation, which included 

the date and price for each particular purchase. On or about the purchase date, Claimants 

would post an irrevocable letter of credit in favor of a commodity supplier. The 

Commodities would then be delivered to the SAMIR refinery, and stored there pursuant 

to the CSA. Claimants then had a put option (the “Put Right”) under which Claimants 

could resell the Commodities to SAMIR at a fixed price at a later date within an 

“Exercise Period” specified in the confirmation. Once SAMIR paid Claimants for their 

Commodities, a close-out confirmation would be signed.  Thus, SAMIR was allowed to 

utilize the Commodities to operate the refinery, but if it wished to do so, it first had to 

obtain Claimants’ consent and make payment to Claimants. 

26. The strike price of Claimants’ Put Right (i.e., the price at which the put could be 

exercised) was derived from several elements, including the purchase price of the 

Commodities in the individual transaction confirmation, a transaction premium, and the 

time from the original purchase by Carlyle to the exercise of its Put Right.24 

27. Therefore, Claimants’ “Investments” in Morocco consisted of the following: 

• Commodities stored in SAMIR’s tanks pursuant to the Transactions and owned by 
Claimants under the Investment Agreements, which are protected investments under 
Article 10.27(h) of the FTA as “movable property;” and 

• Contractual rights derived from the Investment Agreements such as the Transactions’ 
Put Right, which is a type of “option”25 covered by Article 10.27(d) of the FTA. 

24 Expert Report of Richard E. Walck (“Walck Report”), para 12. 
25 According to Barrons’ Dictionary of Finance and Investment,  John Downes and others, Barron’s Dictionary of 
Finance and Investment Terms, Fifth Edition, (Barron’s Educational Services, Inc. 1998) 416 (C-0003-ENG),  an 
“option” is a “right to buy or sell property that is granted in exchange for an agreed upon sum. If the right is not 
exercised after a specified period, the option expires and the option buyer forfeits the money.” See also Walck 
Report, para 11, citing Professor Stephen G. Ryan, Financial Instruments & Institutions:  Accounting and 
Disclosure Risks, (Wiley Finance 2002), 225 (“An options contract provides the purchaser [Carlyle] with the right 
but not the obligation to buy or sell the underlying [Commodities] at a specified strike price over a specified term.  
An option to buy is a “call option” and an option to sell is a “put option.”). 



28. Finally, all of Claimants’ Investments were made in 2015, well after the entry into force 

of the FTA.  Therefore, Claimants’ Investments pursuant to the Investment Agreements 

are “investments” within the meaning of Article 10 of the FTA. 

C. Claimants’ Dispute Meets the Requirements of the ICSID Convention 

29. In addition, Claimants also meet the jurisdictional requirements of Article 25(1) of the 

ICSID Convention, according to which “[t]he jurisdiction of the Centre shall extend to 

any legal dispute arising directly out of an investment, between a Contracting State (or 

any constituent subdivision or agency of a Contracting State designated to the Centre by 

that State) and a national of another Contracting State, which the parties to the dispute 

consent in writing to submit to the Centre.”26 

30. Claimants’ dispute is “legal” in nature because (i) it concerns the breach of an obligation 

by Morocco created by a normative instrument (the FTA); and (ii) Claimants are 

requesting compensation for damages suffered as a consequence of such breach.27 

Further, the dispute entails a “disagreement about legal rights or obligations” and “deals 

with the existence and scope of Claimants’ legal rights” under the FTA, which are also 

evidence that the dispute is “legal” in nature according to arbitral tribunals.28 

31. The dispute at issue in this arbitration also “[arises] directly out of” an investment as 

required by Article 25 of the ICSID Convention.29 Investment tribunals have found that 

26 ICSID Convention art 25(1). 
27 See SAUR International S.A. v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/04/4, Decision on Objections to 
Jurisdiction (27 February 2006) para 71 (stating “[p]our qu'il y ait differend juridique, il faut donc que deux 
conditions soient remplies: que l'existence ou la portée d'un droit ou d'une obligation créée par un instrument 
normatif soit contestée, et qu'une partie demande réparation pour le préjudice subi, du fait de l'inobservation par 
l'autre partie dudit droit ou obligation, ou réclame la condamnation de l' autre partie a observer ledit droit ou 
obligation.”) (CL-0005-FR).  
28 See Noble Energy Inc. and MachalaPower Cía. Ltd. v. Republic of Ecuador and Consejo Nacional de 
Electricidad, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/12, Decision on Jurisdiction (5 March 2008) para 123 (finding that “[i]n the 
Tribunal’s opinion, the dispute or disputes submitted to it are of a legal nature as they involve a disagreement about 
legal rights or obligations. Or, to use the words of the Report of the Executive Directors of the World Bank on the 
Convention, the present dispute is legal in nature because it deals with ‘the existence or scope of [the 
Claimants’] . . . legal right[s]’ . . . and with the nature and extent of the relief to be granted to the Claimants as a 
result of the Respondents’ alleged violation of such rights.”) (CL-0006-ENG). 
29 Although the ICSID Convention does not define the term “investment,” ICSID tribunals have found the 
investments at issue to qualify where claimants demonstrated (i) a contribution of capital, (ii) over a certain duration, 
(iii) the assumption of the risk of loss associated with the investments, and (iv) significance for the host’s State 
development (the so called “Salini Test”) (Salini Costruttori S.p.A. and Italstrade S.p.A. v. Morocco ICSID Case 
No. ARB/00/4 (“Salini”), Decision on Jurisdiction of (23 July 2001) para 52 (CL-0007-ENG)); see also Jan de Nul 



this phrase should not be interpreted restrictively.30 It has also been recognized that the 

term “directly” under this article “has to do with the relationship between the dispute and 

the investment rather than between the measure and the investment.”31 For example, in 

Fedax, promissory notes were issued by the Venezuelan Government pursuant to a 

contract between the Government and the Venezuelan corporation Industrias 

Metalurgicas Van Dam C.A. The promissory notes were later endorsed by the 

corporation to the claimant Fedax N.V., a company from the Netherlands.32 Fedax N.V. 

submitted the dispute over the lack of payment of the promissory notes to arbitration 

under the Venezuela-Netherlands Bilateral Investment Treaty. Venezuela argued that the 

claimant had not made a “direct foreign investment” in the territory of Venezuela.33 The 

tribunal, however, found that regardless of whether the promissory notes were considered 

a direct or indirect investment, the tribunal had jurisdiction under the ICSID Convention 

because the dispute arose from those transactions. Specifically, the tribunal in Fedax 

noted the following: 

It is apparent that the term “directly” relates in this Article to the “dispute” 
and not to the “investment.” It follows that jurisdiction can exist even in 
respect of investments that are not direct, so long as the dispute arises 
directly from such transaction. This interpretation is also consistent with 
the broad reach that the term “investment” must be given in the light of the 
negotiating history of the Convention.34 

N.V. and Dredging International N.V. v. Arab Republic of Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/04/13, Decision on 
Jurisdiction (16 June 2006) paras 91-92 (CL-0008-ENG); Joseph Houben v. Republic of Burundi, ICSID Case No. 
ARB/13/7 (“Houben”), Award (12 January 2016) paras 112-114 (CL-0009-FR). Although the applicability of the 
Salini Test has been contested by some tribunals in recent years (see, e.g., Biwater Gauff (Tanzania) Ltd., v. United 
Republic of Tanzania, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/2), Award (24 July 2008) paras 312-318 (CL-0010-ENG)), the 
applicability of the first three elements of the Salini Test in this case cannot be questioned because, as reflected in 
the previous section, these elements of the Salini Test have been incorporated into Article 10.27 of the FTA. 
Claimants’ Investments also comply with the fourth element of the Salini Test (i.e., significance for Morocco’s 
development), which is not required by the FTA, since Claimants’ investments enabled the smooth operation of 
Morocco’s only oil refinery, and therefore clearly contributed to Morocco’s economic development.  
30 AES Corporation v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/17, Decision on Jurisdiction (26 April 2005) 
para 60 (CL-0011-ENG). 
31 Id. 
32 Fedax N.V. v. Republic of Venezuela, Decision on Objections to Jurisdiction (11 July 1997) para 13 (CL-0003-
ENG).  
33 Id., para 24. 
34 Id. 



32. In sum, the Fedax tribunal found that the promissory notes were a loan and that loans 

were specifically covered in the definition of investment under the relevant treaty.35 

Therefore, the dispute in Fedax met the requirements of Article 25 of the ICSID 

Convention.36 Here, as in Fedax, the “dispute arises directly out” of Claimants’ 

Investments, which include the purchase and sale of movable property and the provision 

of options, both of which are explicitly covered under the FTA. Therefore, Carlyle’s 

Investments in Morocco comply with Article 25 of the ICSID Convention.37 

D. The Claims Are Timely 

33. As detailed above, Respondent’s wrongful conduct occurred beginning in August 2015 

and during part of 2016, and Claimants learned of such conduct only after August 7, 

2015. Claimants filed their request for arbitration on July 31, 2018. Accordingly, over six 

months passed between the events giving rise to the claims here and the filing of the 

present arbitration, and less than three years elapsed between the time Claimants first 

became aware of Respondent’s breach and the filing of their claims. Thus, both Article 

10.15.3 of the FTA, which requires the six-month lapse of time before a filing, and 

Article 10.17.1, which provides the three-year window of time within which to file, have 

been satisfied.38 

35 Id., para 29, 31-32. 
36 Id., para 45. 
37 Further, as noted above, ICSID tribunals have found that investments made in analogous cases that involve similar 
Investment Agreements and facts comply with Article 25 of the ICSID Convention. GEA, para 151 (CL-0004-
ENG); Deutsche Bank, para 312 (CL-0002-ENG). 
38 Article 10.15.3 of the FTA states, in part: “Provided that six months have elapsed since the events giving rise to 
the claim, a claimant may submit a claim referred to in paragraph 1: (a) under the ICSID Convention and the ICSID 
Rules of Procedures for Arbitration Proceedings, provided that both the respondent and the non-disputing Party are 
parties to the ICSID Convention; . . . .” Article 10.17.1 of the FTA states, in part: “No claim may be submitted to 
arbitration under this Section if more than three years have elapsed from the date on which the claimant first 
acquired, or should have first acquired, knowledge of the breach alleged under Article 10.15.1 and knowledge that 
the claimant . . . or the enterprise . . . has incurred loss or damage.” (CL-0001-ENG). 



IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

A. Prior to Entering Into the SAMIR Investments, Carlyle Performed Due 
Diligence on SAMIR and Thoroughly Investigated the Commercial 
Conditions in Morocco 

34. Carlyle began contemplating the Transactions with SAMIR in October 2014.39  Prior to 

entering into the Investments, Carlyle conducted diligence of SAMIR and thoroughly 

investigated the business climate in Morocco – including engaging in consultations with 

Moroccan counsel – before agreeing to enter into the Transactions.40 For example, 

Carlyle reviewed a U.S. State Department report that identified Morocco as a 

commercially safe jurisdiction.41 Carlyle also reviewed, among other things, detailed 

publicly available information concerning SAMIR, such as SAMIR’s financial 

statements, and met with numerous SAMIR representatives.42  Based on its due 

diligence, Carlyle understood that its position in the SAMIR Transactions would be 

recognized and protected by Moroccan law.43 Ultimately, in December 2014, Carlyle 

decided to enter into the Investments with SAMIR. 

B. The Government Understood and Approved of the Investments 

35. In December 2014, prior to signing the Investment Agreements, SAMIR informed 

Carlyle that the parties were required to obtain authorization from the Government in 

order to engage in the Investments.44  Due to Morocco’s currency control restrictions, the 

transaction structure had to be approved by Morocco’s Office des Changes (the “Foreign 

Exchange Office”) – an official Government agency.45 

36. In December 2014 and January 2015, SAMIR’s representatives met in person and 

exchanged correspondence with representatives of the Foreign Exchange Office 

regarding the proposed Investments with Carlyle.46  SAMIR explained to the Foreign 

39 See Email from Dietrich to Oswald, 27 October 2014 (C-0004-ENG); Olivo Statement, para 6. 
40 Olivo Statement, para 6.  
41 See Morocco Investment Climate Statement 2015 (C-0005-ENG); Olivo Statement, para 6.  
42 Olivo Statement, paras 6-7. 
43 Id., para 6. 
44 Id., para 8. 
45 Id. 
46 See id., paras 8-9, Ex. 1 (MO-0001). 



Exchange Office the entire structure of the proposed Transactions in detail, including that 

Carlyle would own the Commodities and hold title to the Commodities while they were 

in storage at SAMIR.47  Carlyle worked with SAMIR to gather the information requested 

by the Foreign Exchange Office and to answer all questions that were posed by the 

Government officials concerning the Investments.48 

37. On January 16, 2015, Carlyle learned from Youssef Nadifi, a senior member of the 

SAMIR finance team, that the Foreign Exchange Office had granted approval of 

SAMIR’s entry into the Investments with Carlyle.49  In a letter affirming approval of the 

Investments, the Foreign Exchange Office outlined the details of the transaction structure 

between Carlyle and SAMIR, specifically noting that “the SAMIR company must 

transfer ownership of the imported crude oil shipments . . . to [Carlyle].”50 

38. After receiving the general approval from the Foreign Exchange Office to enter into the 

Investments, SAMIR sought and obtained the Foreign Exchange Office’s endorsement 

prior to entering into each individual Transaction with Carlyle.51  Prior to the 

Government’s freezing of SAMIR’s bank accounts in August 2015, the Government’s 

Foreign Exchange Office endorsed each and every Transaction that SAMIR submitted for 

approval.52 

C. The Structure of the Carlyle/SAMIR Transactions 

39. As noted previously, the Transactions were governed by the Investment Agreements. The 

Confirmation for each Transaction specified a purchase date on which Carlyle agreed to 

commit capital by posting an irrevocable letter of credit in favor of a commodities 

supplier.  Pursuant to the Investment Agreements, title to the Commodities passed from 

the supplier through SAMIR to Carlyle.53 

47 Id. 
48 See id., para 9. 
49 Seeid., para 10, Ex. 2 (MO-0002); see also  

 
50 Olivo Statement, para 10 
51Id. 
52 Id. 
53 Id., para 12. 
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40. SAMIR stored the Commodities in its tanks for a period of time specified in each 

Confirmation as the exercise period, during which time title to the Commodities 

remained with Carlyle.54  During the exercise period, SAMIR could not use, remove, sell, 

or otherwise dispose of Carlyle’s Commodities being stored in its tanks.55 

41. At any time during the exercise period, Carlyle had the ability, but not an obligation, to 

exercise a Put Right to sell the Commodities back to SAMIR at a fixed purchase price set 

forth in the Confirmation.56  The Investment Agreements contemplated that to repurchase 

the Commodities, in addition to the fixed purchase price, SAMIR would also pay Carlyle 

a transaction premium, calculated based on the length of time that Carlyle’s irrevocable 

letter of credit used to fund the initial purchase remained open, and the length of time 

between Carlyle’s closing of the letter of credit and its resale of the Commodities to 

SAMIR.57 

42. After SAMIR received notice that Carlyle was executing its Put Right, SAMIR signed a 

closeout confirmation, which contained the final value of the purchase price and the 

transaction premium.58  The Investment Agreements contemplated that SAMIR would 

then pay Carlyle the total amount listed on each closeout confirmation, and once Carlyle 

received the payment – and only then – would title to the Commodities pass from Carlyle 

to SAMIR.59 

D. From February 2015 to August 2015, the Carlyle/SAMIR Transactions 
Proceeded Largely According to Plan 

43. Beginning in March 2015, SAMIR sent Carlyle regular reports reflecting the volume of 

inventory stored at the refinery, including the Commodities owned by Carlyle.60  During 

the early course of their dealings, SAMIR made payments to Carlyle to open and close 

out transactions, for which Carlyle exercised its Put Right, all in accordance with the 

54 Id., para 13. 
55 Id. 
56 Id., para 14. 
57 Id. 
58 Id., para 15. 
59 Id. 
60 See, e.g. id., para 17, Ex. 9 (MO-0009); Witness Statement of Vishal Suvagiya (“Suvagiya Statement”), para 11. 



Investment Agreements.61  For example, on May 21, 2015, SAMIR made a payment of 

$51,181,388.63 to close out the first Transaction between Carlyle and SAMIR.62  Three 

weeks later, on June 4, 2015, SAMIR closed out the parties’ second Transaction with a 

payment of $17,826,642.52.63 

44. In April 2015, SAMIR invited Carlyle to increase the volume of the Investments.64  On 

June 15, 2015 after reviewing every SAMIR deal to date, Carlyle verified that the value 

of the inventory at SAMIR was greater than the value of Commodities owned by 

Carlyle.65  At that time, Carlyle was thus satisfied that SAMIR was a reliable trading 

partner, and agreed to increase the volume of the Investments.  Accordingly, on June 22, 

2015, SAMIR sent a letter formalizing the parties’ agreement to increase the Investment 

volume.66  In the letter, SAMIR agreed to repurchase from Carlyle an additional $600 

million of Commodities pursuant to the terms of the Investment Agreements over the 

course of at least three years.67 

45. Following the parties’ commitment to increase the Investment volume and until August 

2015, SAMIR continued to make payments to Carlyle in accordance with the Investment 

Agreements. For example, on July 22, 2015, SAMIR closed out two additional 

Transactions with payments totaling over $35 million.68 On August 4, 2015, SAMIR paid 

Carlyle over $37 million to close out two deals, and paid an additional $3 million as a 

Haircut69 payment for a third.70 

46. Also on August 4, 2015, Carlyle representatives Matthew Olivo, a Director of Structured 

Investments, and Vishal Suvagiya, a Senior Commodities Structuring Associate, traveled 

61 See Olivo Statement, para 19. 
62 Id.,  Ex. 10 (MO-0010); 
63 Id., Ex. 11 (MO-0011). 
64 Id., para 20, Ex. 12 (MO-0012). 
65 Email from Suvagiya to Olivo, Re: SAMIR Custody Certificates, 16 June 2015 (C-0006-ENG). 
66 Olivo Statement, para 20, Ex. 5 (MO-0005). 
67 Id. 
68 Id., para 22, Ex. 16 (MO-0016). 
69 In connection with each transaction, SAMIR paid Carlyle a sum which was a designated portion of the purchase 
price (the “Haircut”). The amount of the Haircut was set in each Confirmation and was to be credited against 
SAMIR’s closing payment. Walck Report, paras 15-16. 
70 Olivo Statement, para 22, Exs. 17-18 (MO-0017-18). 



to Morocco for meetings with representatives of SAMIR.71  At those meetings, SAMIR 

representatives informed Carlyle that SAMIR was working on a plan with Attijari 

Finances Corporation, a Moroccan investment bank (“Attijari”), to significantly increase 

SAMIR’s capital base.72  SAMIR represented that the largest portion of the capital raise 

would come from SAMIR’s controlling shareholder, Sheikh Al-Amoudi, who was one of 

the richest men in the world.73  At the time, Sheikh Al-Amoudi controlled 67% of the 

shares of SAMIR.74 

47. Notably, at no time during this February 2015 to August 2015 period was Carlyle ever 

notified by the Government that the Transactions would not be honored.75 

E. In August 2015, the Moroccan Government Seized SAMIR’s Assets and 
Froze SAMIR’s Bank Accounts Forcing SAMIR to Shut Down Operations 

48. In August 2015, the status of Carlyle’s Investments changed dramatically as a result of 

the Government’s actions. On August 7, 2015, the Government froze SAMIR’s bank 

accounts, refused to allow ships to unload crude oil at the refinery, and installed officials 

from the Office of Customs in the refinery to supervise and control SAMIR’s 

operations.76  Pursuant to a “third party holder notification procedure” under Moroccan 

law, the Moroccan Customs Office also directed SAMIR’s banks and local distributors to 

pay to the Government – not Carlyle or SAMIR – any funds associated with the sales of 

Carlyle’s Commodities.  Although Carlyle was not notified of this procedure when these 

third-party notices were issued to SAMIR’s banks and local distributors on August 7, 

even when it learned of the procedure months later, Carlyle’s attempt to intervene was 

rejected.77  

 

71 Suvagiya Statement, para 12; Olivo Statement, para 23. 
72 Id. 
73 Id. 
74 See Saadallah Al Fathi, ‘Morocco Plays the Waiting Game with Defunct Refinery’ Gulf News (2 April 2017) (C-
0007-ENG); Tamba Koundouno, ‘SAMIR Refinery: Al Amoudi Claims $1.5 Billion Compensation from Morocco’ 
Morocco World News (19 May 2019) (C-0008-ENG). 
75 Olivo Statement, paras 5, 49. 
76 See Witness Statement of Christopher Zuech (“Zuech Statement”), para 39, Ex. 30 (CZ-0030);  

   
77 Zuech Statement, para 11. 
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78 Additionally, at some point after the Government froze 

SAMIR’s bank accounts, it swept millions of dollars from SAMIR’s accounts.79  

 
80 

49. SAMIR had informed Carlyle in early August that the refinery would be shutting down 

some of its refining units temporarily.81 However, Carlyle later learned from a news 

article published by Reuters on August 13, that on August 7, 2015, assets purportedly 

belonging to SAMIR were seized by the Moroccan Tax Administration over a dispute 

involving allegedly unpaid taxes.82  
83 

50. When Carlyle reached out to SAMIR to verify the information reported in the Reuters 

article, SAMIR’s representatives responded that they believed SAMIR was current in its 

tax payments and did not owe any overdue amounts to the Government.84  SAMIR also 

told Carlyle that Carlyle’s assets, including cash proceeds from the sale of Carlyle-owned 

Commodities, were being held for the benefit of Carlyle.85  SAMIR further reported that 

Sheikh Al-Amoudi and other SAMIR board members were actively meeting with the 

Government to resolve their dispute so that SAMIR could release the funds that were 

earmarked for Carlyle.86 

51. In late August 2015, Ahmed Harnouch, SAMIR’s CFO, reported that SAMIR had around 

2 billion MAD (a little over US$200 million) of receivables in its accounts from recent 

sales of refined products, waiting to be paid to Carlyle once the Government unfroze 

SAMIR’s accounts.87  Mr. Harnouch confirmed that SAMIR had “every intention” of 

paying for the Commodities stored in SAMIR’s tanks, “as soon as the current situation” 

78    
79 Zuech Statement, para 40; Suvagiya Statement, para 4. 
80    
81 Olivo Statement, para 24. 
82 Suvagiya Statement, para 14, Ex. 9 (VS-0009). 
83    
84 Olivo Statement, para 25. 
85 Id.   
86 Id., paras 25-26. 
87 Id., para 26, Ex. 21 (MO-0021). 
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with the Government was dealt with.88  The position of SAMIR’s CFO was echoed by 

John Oswald, a former SAMIR board member, who assured Mr. Suvagiya and Chris 

Dietrich, a Carlyle Director of Structured Investments, that “the issues with the Moroccan 

government will be resolved in the next 2 weeks and [Sheikh] Al Amoudi is writing a 

check” to solve any liquidity issues.89 

F. In the Fall of 2015, SAMIR and the Government Failed to Resolve Their 
Dispute Despite Repeated Efforts by SAMIR 

52. In early September 2015, Mr. Zuech and Mr. Olivo traveled to Morocco to meet with 

SAMIR board members Jamal Ba-Amer, who was also SAMIR’s CEO and General 

Manager, and Bassam Aburdene.90  The board members confirmed that SAMIR had over 

$200 million of receivables in its accounts earmarked for Carlyle and informed Carlyle 

that Sheikh Al-Amoudi was currently meeting with the King of Morocco in the United 

States, to resolve SAMIR’s tax dispute with the Government.91 

i. SAMIR’s Board Approved a Recapitalization Plan Designed to Satisfy SAMIR’s 
Obligations to Carlyle and the Government 

53. Shortly after meeting with SAMIR, Carlyle learned that SAMIR’s board had approved a 

broad recapitalization plan that was aimed at putting the company in a strong financial 

position moving forward and structured to satisfy SAMIR’s obligations to Carlyle and the 

Government. 92  On September 11, 2015, Mr. Aburdene, relayed to Carlyle that the 

resolution the SAMIR board had approved involved, among other things, $1 billion 

dollars of new equity capital scheduled to come into the company by early December 

2015.93  As part of the capital increase, Sheikh Al-Amoudi was planning to inject as 

much as $670 million into SAMIR.   Mr. Aburdene explained, however, that SAMIR still 

88 Id., para 26, Ex. 20 (MO-0020). 
89 Zuech Statement, para 13, Ex. 8 (CZ-0008). 
90 Zuech Statement, para 15; Olivo Statement, para 28, Ex. 23 (MO-0023). 
91 Zuech Statement, para 15; Olivo Statement, para 29, Ex. 24 (MO-0024). 
92 See Zuech Statement, para 17, Ex. 11 (CZ-0011); Olivo Statement, para 31. 
93 Zuech Statement, para 18, Ex. 12 (CZ-0012); Olivo Statement, para 32.   



had to discuss the plan with the three Government ministers who had the authority to sign 

off on the deal.94 

54. SAMIR held another board meeting on October 16, 2015 at which Sheikh Al-Amoudi 

formally voted for the capital increase of up to $1 billion.95  That same day, SAMIR 

issued a press release confirming Sheikh Al-Amoudi’s intention to inject approximately 

$670 million into SAMIR before November 15, 2015.96 

ii. SAMIR Acknowledged that it Owed Money to Carlyle, But Could Not Pay 
Carlyle Because the Funds Owed to Carlyle Were in Accounts Frozen by the 
Government 

55. On September 14, Mr. Olivo and Mr. Zuech traveled to Morocco again to meet directly 

with SAMIR representatives.97  While in Morocco, Carlyle representatives met with 

Jamal Ba-Amer, SAMIR’s CEO and General Manager, Ahmed Harnouch, SAMIR’s 

CFO, and Youssef Nadifi, a member of SAMIR’s finance team.98  The SAMIR 

representatives maintained that Carlyle would be paid for the Commodities from the 

funds frozen in SAMIR’s accounts.99  Mr. Ba-Amer further suggested that Carlyle write a 

letter to SAMIR highlighting the amounts owed to Carlyle, which SAMIR could show to 

the Government to urge the Government to release the funds in SAMIR’s frozen accounts 

in order to pay Carlyle.100  Per SAMIR’s request, on September 15, 2015, Mr. Zuech sent 

a letter to SAMIR stressing that Carlyle held title to the Commodities currently stored in 

SAMIR’s tanks and that any proceeds from SAMIR’s disposal of the Commodities 

belonged to Carlyle.101 

56. Mr. Ba-Amer replied to Carlyle’s letter on September 21, 2015.102  In his letter, Mr. Ba-

Amer acknowledged that “SAMIR ha[d] sold Disposed Commodities in order to pay 

94 Olivo Statement, para 31, Ex. 28 (MO-0028). An article published by Reuters on September 11, 2015 reported 
that Sheikh Al-Amoudi had “been negotiating with the Moroccan government to find a compromise to end the 
company’s crisis.”  Zuech Statement, para 20, Ex. 13 (CZ-0013). 
95 Olivo Statement, para 41, Ex. 36 (MO-0036). 
96 Id., Ex. 37 (MO-0037). 
97 Zuech Statement, para 21, Ex. 14 (CZ-0014); Olivo Statement, para 33. 
98 Zuech Statement, para 21; Olivo Statement, para 33. 
99 Id. 
100 Id. 
101 Zuech Statement, para 22, Ex. 15 (CZ-0015). 
102 Suvagiya Statement, para 20, Ex. 15 (VS-0015). 



[Carlyle] in the normal course of business.”103  Mr. Ba-Amer explained that “the 

proceeds from the sales of the Disposed Commodities . . . have been deposited in 

SAMIR’s account with the intention to transfer to [Carlyle] the sales proceeds.”104  

However, “prior to SAMIR’s repayment to [Carlyle], the Moroccan Government ha[d] 

frozen all bank accounts of [SAMIR], including the bank account holding the amounts 

owed to [Carlyle].”105  SAMIR promised to “write to the Moroccan Government in order 

to explain the ramifications of the Government’s actions upon the Agreements between 

[SAMIR] and [Carlyle], and the fact that many of the frozen funds are proceeds of sales 

which are owed to [Carlyle].”106  Mr. Ba-Amer further reaffirmed that “negotiations are 

ongoing between [SAMIR] and the Government in order to achieve an effective recovery 

of [SAMIR’s] activities after the realization of the proposed capital increase,” and 

“[o]nce the Government unfreezes [SAMIR’s] accounts, the amounts owed to [Carlyle] 

will be immediately transferred forthwith to [Carlyle].”107 

57. Then, in late September 2015, Carlyle negotiated a Forbearance Agreement with SAMIR, 

which the parties signed on October 1, 2015.108  Under the terms of the Forbearance 

Agreement, Carlyle agreed to refrain from taking immediate legal action against SAMIR, 

and, in exchange, SAMIR agreed to make a series of payments to Carlyle.109  In the 

Forbearance Agreement, SAMIR affirmed that the Commodities were “the property of 

Carlyle” and that SAMIR “does not have any ownership or property right, title or interest 

in or to Commodities.”110  SAMIR further stated that although it had breached the 

Agreements, these breaches occurred due to the Government’s actions.111 Specifically, 

SAMIR asserted in the Forbearance Agreement that the Government “froze SAMIR’s 

bank accounts on or about August 7, 2015, which has prevented SAMIR from 

103 Id., p 1.   
104 Id., p 1. 
105 Id., p 1. 
106 Id., p 1. 
107 Id., p 2. 
108 Petrick Statement, para 17, Ex. 13 (MP-0013). 
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Abderrahim El Azzouzy, later reiterated to Carlyle that they both believed Mr. 

Akhanouch had an interest in taking over SAMIR.119 

60. Sheikh Al-Amoudi, himself, “accused the Moroccan Government of being more 

concerned about debt payments than about saving Samir from bankruptcy” and promised 

to personally “write a letter to King Mohamed VI to request his intervention in the 

matter.”120  Despite the apparent hostility SAMIR faced from the Government, SAMIR 

persisted in trying to convince the Government to unfreeze its bank accounts so that it 

could meet its contractual obligations to Carlyle and others. 

61. Throughout October and November 2015, SAMIR continued to pursue a deal with the 

Government.121  On or around November 4, 2015, for example, Sheikh Al-Amoudi wrote 

“a letter to the relevant Moroccan Government officials requesting a meeting to resolve 

all outstanding issues involving [SAMIR].”122 

62. After months of failed negotiations, on November 24, 2015, Mr. Jouahri reported that 

Sheikh Al-Amoudi had finally been granted a meeting with the Government to be held 

imminently.123  However, Carlyle learned from Mr. Ba-Amer and Mr. Salem that when 

the day of the meeting arrived, the Government failed to appear, even though Sheikh Al-

Amoudi had traveled to Morocco specifically for the meeting.124 

63. Despite the frustrating setbacks in negotiations with the Government, SAMIR continued 

making efforts aimed at paying Carlyle.   

 

 
125  Carlyle did in fact make such a 

request to the Government in a December 21, 2015 letter addressed to Mohamed 

Boussaid, the Moroccan Minister of Economy and Finance.126  In that letter, Carlyle 

119 Id., para 40. 
120 Id., para 35, Ex. 33 (MO-0033). 
121 See id., paras 41-42. 
122 Id., para 42. 
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contrary, in December 2015, the Government increased its pressure on SAMIR to dispose 

of Carlyle’s assets without any payment to Carlyle. 134 

66. In an email dated December 11, 2015, Mr. Ba-Amer explained that in the months 

following the Government’s freezing of SAMIR’s accounts, “supplying the country” with 

refined products appeared to have become a “strategic” issue for the Government.135  

Although SAMIR had informed the Government that Carlyle owned the Commodities, 

SAMIR advised Carlyle that it was not possible for it to stop supplying the domestic 

market because it was being ordered by the Government to do so.136 In addition, SAMIR 

advised Carlyle that it did not control its own bank accounts and that the Foreign 

Exchange Office had ordered SAMIR to stop all international financial transactions, 

including those with Carlyle, further preventing SAMIR from paying Carlyle the funds 

owed.137 

v. At Meetings with Carlyle’s Representatives, the Government Acknowledged that 
Funds Belonging to Carlyle were Frozen in SAMIR’s Accounts and that Carlyle 
Owned Commodities in SAMIR’s Tanks 

67. During the week of December 14, 2015, Carlyle representatives, including Mr. Olivo and 

Mr. Zuech, traveled to Morocco.138  While there, the Carlyle representatives met with 

Mohamed Boussaid, the Moroccan Minister of Economy and Finance, Dwight L. Bush, 

Sr., the U.S. Ambassador to Morocco, and representatives of Attijari.139 

68. At Carlyle’s meeting with Mr. Boussaid, the Minister never denied that the frozen funds 

in SAMIR’s bank accounts belonged to Carlyle, and assured Carlyle that the Government 

would release the funds as soon as the issues between SAMIR and the Government were 

resolved.140  Mr. Boussaid also made representations to Carlyle about the amount of cash 

134 Suvagiya Statement, para 26, Ex. 17, p 5 (VS-0017). 
135 Olivo Statement, para 45, Ex. 42 (MO-0042). 
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in SAMIR’s accounts, the amount of receivables purportedly due, and the levels of oil 

and products remaining at the refinery.141 

69. On December 16, 2015, Intertek, an inspection company retained by Carlyle, produced an 

independent report of the oil and refined products remaining in SAMIR’s tanks.142  

Intertek’s report showed that SAMIR’s tanks held significantly more oil and refined 

products than the Government had represented at the meeting earlier in the week.143 

70. On December 21, 2015, SAMIR provided financial information to Carlyle showing that 

SAMIR had approximately $307 million of funds in its frozen accounts.144  As with the 

level of oil and refined products, the amount of receivables owed to SAMIR and funds 

frozen in its accounts was far greater than the amount the Government had claimed 

existed. Still, SAMIR was unable to release any of the frozen funds to Carlyle because 

the Government was preventing it from doing so.145 

71. Given the circumstances, Carlyle came to believe that the Government was intentionally 

understating SAMIR’s inventory and level of funds to make it appear that SAMIR was 

insolvent, so that it could push the refinery into bankruptcy and force Sheikh Al-Amoudi 

out of ownership.146 

vi. Carlyle Repeatedly Sought to Secure the Release of its Funds from the 
Government’s Control 

72. Following up on the earlier meeting, on December 21, 2015, Mr. Zuech sent a letter to 

Mr. Boussaid reiterating that “Carlyle-owned crude oil and refined products and cash 

proceeds arising from the sales of such products . . . have been improperly removed from 

SAMIR’s tanks and sold, without Carlyle’s consent and without payment to Carlyle.”147 

Carlyle further requested that the Government “share with [Carlyle] any information [the 

Government] may receive in relation to the situation of SAMIR, including in respect of 

Carlyle-owned crude oil and refined products and proceeds of the dispositions of 

141 See Olivo Statement, para 46; Zuech Statement, para 33. 
142 See Email from E.A. Abderrahim to M. Olivo attaching Inventory Report (16 December 2015) (C-0010-ENG). 
143 Olivo Statement, para 47. 
144 Zuech Statement, para 35, Ex. 27 (CZ-0027). 
145 Id., para 35. 
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Carlyle’s property . . . .”148  Carlyle also urged the Government to release from SAMIR’s 

frozen funds a payment for Carlyle before the end of the year, noting that Carlyle has “an 

unalterable deadline on 31 December of this year” to recover payment for the 

Commodities disposed of without authorization from Carlyle.149 

73. In mid- to late December 2015, Carlyle further sought to persuade the Government to 

authorize the release of funds from SAMIR’s frozen accounts for an immediate cash 

payment to Carlyle before the end of the year by sending a letter to the United States 

Ambassador to the Kingdom of Morocco.150  In that letter, Carlyle stressed that SAMIR 

had taken and disposed of Carlyle’s Commodities without compensation “at the direction 

of officials from Morocco’s Office of Customs . . . .”151  While Carlyle stated that it was 

“loath to take sides in the disputes between the Moroccan government and SAMIR,” 

Carlyle emphasized its need for a substantial cash payment to be released from SAMIR’s 

accounts by December 31, 2015.152  Carlyle maintained and asserted that “the blatant and 

officially sanctioned expropriation of U.S. persons’ property in Morocco rises to State-to-

State level discourse” for which Carlyle urged the Ambassador’s immediate 

intervention.153 Despite these efforts, however, the Government never responded to 

Carlyle’s correspondence and never provided Carlyle with any cash payment whatsoever. 

74. Carlyle also sent a letter to SAMIR’s board of directors, directly urging them to help 

secure payment to Carlyle by year-end.154  On December 28, 2015, Mr. Ba-Amer 

responded to Carlyle’s letter on behalf of the SAMIR board of directors.155  He stated that 

after August 7, 2015, when the Government froze SAMIR’s accounts and “refused to 

allow ships to unload crude,” the Government “placed Customs officials in the refinery to 

supervise and control the refinery”  and maintained control of the refinery ever since.156  
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Nevertheless, Mr. Ba-Amer remained “hopeful for a resolution soon” and noted that 

negotiations between Sheikh Al-Amoudi and the Government were ongoing.157 

75. Carlyle also sought payment from certain distributors to whom SAMIR had sold 

Carlyle’s Commodities.158  On December 30, 2015, Carlyle sent letters to the distributors, 

advising that the Commodities were the exclusive property of Carlyle, and that SAMIR’s 

sales of those Commodities were conducted in violation of Carlyle’s rights.159  Carlyle 

requested that the distributors immediately pay Carlyle the proceeds of those sales. The 

Government, however, rendered these efforts futile by previously instructing the 

distributors to pay the Government directly for their purchases of commodities from 

SAMIR, which undisputedly included Commodities owned by Carlyle.160 

G. In January 2016, Carlyle Learned that SAMIR Would Not be in a Position to 
Pay Carlyle for its Commodities Due to the Government’s Actions 

76. On January 10, 2016, Mr. Zuech and Mr. Suvagiya traveled to Morocco to meet with Mr. 

Ba-Amer and Hicham Es Semmar, SAMIR’s Finance and Treasury Manager.161  While at 

SAMIR, the Carlyle representatives reviewed SAMIR’s accounts receivable balances and 

all applicable invoices.162 

77. During Carlyle’s conversations with Mr. Ba-Amer on this trip, Mr. Ba-Amer reiterated 

that the Government was preventing SAMIR from releasing the funds belonging to 

Carlyle and was continuing to force SAMIR to make sales of refined products to the local 

market.163  Based on Carlyle’s review of SAMIR’s accounts and conversations with Mr. 

Es Semmar, Carlyle determined at that juncture that there were inadequate funds in 

SAMIR’s accounts and insufficient receivables due to pay Carlyle.164  Mr. Es Semmar 

told Carlyle that the Government had already seized MAD 1.7 billion, or about US$170 

million from SAMIR’s accounts, with plans to seize all of the remaining funds in 

157 Id. 
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SAMIR’s accounts.165   At that point, Carlyle understood that due to the Government’s 

actions, Carlyle had no chance to receive any of the funds owed to it by SAMIR.166 

H. Carlyle Still Has Not Been Paid by the Government for the Commodities that 
SAMIR Disposed of at the Direction of the Government 

78. Unable to pay its creditors or Carlyle, SAMIR was forced into liquidation by the 

Casablanca Commercial Court in March 2016.167  At the public hearing before the Court 

on March 21, 2016, SAMIR requested that the Court approve its proposal for an amicable 

solution with the Government.168  SAMIR represented to the Court that it had always 

paid its taxes on time, and was therefore taken utterly by surprise when the Government 

froze SAMIR’s accounts on August 7, 2015 claiming unpaid taxes.169 

79. SAMIR informed the Court that it had sought a resolution with the Government and its 

other creditors.170  SAMIR asserted that it had proposed a substantial capital increase to 

fund restarting the refinery and begin to repay its debts to the Government and other 

creditors over time.171  However, based on its actions, the Government appears to have 

had no interest in allowing SAMIR to restart.  In fact, SAMIR’s lawyer reported that after 

the Government froze SAMIR’s accounts, a ship carrying one million barrels of oil 

arrived at the port of Mohammedia to deliver oil to SAMIR, but it was turned away by 

the Government.172  Ultimately, the Moroccan Court denied SAMIR’s request to pursue 

an amicable settlement and instead ordered complete liquidation of the refinery’s 

assets.173  Carlyle subsequently filed several court proceedings in Morocco in an attempt 

to recover its Investment-related losses, including a claim in 2016 against the Customs 

Administration. Carlyle, however, withdrew its claim against the Customs Administration 

165 Zuech Statement, para 41. 
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on December 26, 2017, in order to properly commence this arbitration. To date, Carlyle 

has not received any compensation from the Government for any of its losses.174 

I. After SAMIR was Forced into Liquidation, the Government Blocked All 
Outside Bids to Purchase the Refinery 

80. After SAMIR was forced into liquidation, the Court appointed an independent trustee 

(subsequently replaced by another appointed trustee) to assume control of the refinery 

and begin soliciting bids for SAMIR’s assets.175 By February 2017, the Government 

confirmed that as many as 20 investors had shown interest in buying the SAMIR 

refinery.176 However, the Government declared that it had to approve any bid to purchase 

the refinery.177  To date, the Government has rejected all bids to purchase SAMIR, 

including a September 2017 bid from a Hong Kong-based investor.178 

81. The media reported that very few of the companies interested in buying SAMIR had 

developed written proposals, mainly due to the Government’s unreasonably restrictive 

demand that prospective purchasers of the SAMIR facility secure “deposits issued by a 

Moroccan bank . . . .”179  For most, if not all, of the prospective purchasers, deposits of 

that nature are prohibitively difficult to obtain.180 

J. SAMIR Claims that its Insolvency was Caused by the Government’s Actions 

82. On April 12, 2019, Sheikh Al-Amoudi and his holding company, Corral Petroleum 

Holdings AB, filed a complaint against the Government to be resolved under the ICSID 

Convention.181  Among other charges, the claimants in that proceeding allege that the 

Government allowed SAMIR to go bankrupt by failing to implement regulations and 

contract terms that would have made SAMIR competitive in the Moroccan market.182  
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175 Casablanca Commercial Court, Judgment No. 38, File No. 23/8302/2016, (21 March 2016) (CL-0012-ENG). 
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The claimants in the Corral arbitration further allege that the Government failed to abide 

by an investment agreement that included protection against expropriation.183 

V. RESPONDENT BREACHED ITS OBLIGATIONS UNDER THE FTA 

83. Based on the facts discussed above and as further demonstrated below, Respondent’s 

wrongful actions clearly violated the FTA. These unlawful actions rendered Claimants’ 

Investments valueless and deprived Claimants of returns to which they were entitled in 

direct contradiction of Claimants’ legitimate expectations, and constituted a blatant 

expropriation of Claimants’ property without any compensation.  Accordingly, 

Respondent should be held liable for the inexcusable breaches of its obligations to (1) 

accord Claimants’ Investments fair and equitable treatment under Article 10.5.1 of the 

FTA; and (2) prevent the illegal expropriation of Claimants’ Investments without having 

met the specific conditions set forth in Article 10.6 of the FTA, including providing 

Claimants with adequate compensation for its losses. 

A. Respondent Breached its Article 10.5.1 Obligation to Accord Claimants’ 
Investments Fair and Equitable Treatment 

84. Under Article 10.5.1 of the FTA, Respondent is required to “accord to covered 

investments treatment in accordance with customary international law, including fair and 

equitable treatment . . . .”184  Respondent, however, blatantly breached this obligation. 

85. While the phrase “fair and equitable treatment” (“FET”) is not separately defined in the 

FTA, Article 10.5.2 of the FTA makes clear that the concept encompasses the “minimum 

standard of treatment of aliens.”185  Under international law, this means that, at a 

minimum, investments subject to FET should be protected against conduct that is 

“arbitrary, grossly unfair, unjust or idiosyncratic, . . . discriminatory . . . or involv[ing] a 

lack of due process leading to an outcome which offends judicial propriety . . . .”186 

183 Id. 
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86. The preamble to the FTA also provides that the agreement and its provisions (including 

the guarantee of FET to covered investments) are intended to reflect the Parties’ 

“[d]esir[e] to establish clear rules governing [the Parties’] trade and investment . . . and 

thereby foster a predictable and mutually advantageous commercial environment” as well 

as their “commitment to transparency and their desire to eliminate corruption in 

international trade and investment[.]”187 

87. Although, beyond the FTA’s text, the determination of a FET violation is typically 

considered a fact-specific inquiry,188 there is a consensus among scholars and investment 

tribunals that FET is generally intended to “protect investors against serious instances of 

arbitrary, discriminatory or abusive conduct by States.”189  Failure to provide due 

process190 and other tortious actions constitute discriminatory and abusive conduct by a 

host government which has been found to breach FET obligations.191 

88. Arbitrary conduct that violates FET includes: (1) any measure that is taken in willful 

disregard of due process and procedure; (2) any measure that is not based on objective 

legal standards but on discretion, prejudice, or personal preference; (3) any measure that 

is taken for reasons other than the reason put forth by the State; and (4) any measure that 

inflicts damage on an investor without serving any apparent legitimate purpose.192 

187 The preamble of an investment treaty can often shed light on the treatment that is to be accorded to the covered 
investment by the underlying treaty.  See, e.g., Ioan Micula et al. v. Romania, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/20 
(“Micula”), Award (11 December 2013) para 509 (“[B]oth Parties agree that the fair and equitable treatment 
standard should be interpreted in the light of the object and purpose of the BIT as reflected in its Preamble.”) (CL-
0014-ENG); El Paso Energy Int’l Co. v. The Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/03/15, Award (31 October 
2011) paras 345-46 (quoting cases in which the tribunals referred to the preambles of the BITs at issue to determine 
the scope of FET) (CL-0015-ENG). 
188 See, e.g., Mondev Int’l Ltd. v. United States, Award, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/99/2, Award (11 October 2002) 
para 118 (“A judgment of what is fair and equitable cannot be reached in the abstract; it must depend on the facts of 
the particular case.”) (CL-0016-ENG). 
189 Josefa Sicard-Mirabal and Yves Derains, Introduction to Investor-State Arbitration (Kluwer Law International 
2018), pp 136-37 (CL-0017-ENG); see also Rudolf Dolzer and Christoph Scheuer, Principles of International 
Investment Law (2 Oxford University Press 2012), p 145 (noting the “central role of stability, transparency, and the 
investor’s legitimate expectations for the current understanding of the FET standard”) (CL-0018-ENG).   
190 Article 10.5.2 of the FTA acknowledges that FET includes “the obligation not to deny justice in criminal, civil, or 
administrative adjudicatory proceedings in accordance with the principle of due process embodied in the principal 
legal systems of the world[.]” (CL-0001-ENG). 
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89. Tribunals also routinely find a FET violation where the host government frustrates or 

thwarts an investor’s legitimate expectations with respect to its investment.  The standard 

set forth in Tecmed v. Mexico, a case in which the host government arbitrarily rejected 

the claimant’s request for renewal of a license and thereby undermined the claimant’s 

legitimate expectation that it could carry out a long-term investment, is particularly 

instructive here.  In that case, the tribunal stated as follows: 

[Fair and equitable treatment] requires the Contracting Parties to provide 
to international investments treatment that does not affect the basic 
expectations that were taken into account by the foreign investor to make 
the investment.  The foreign investor expects the host State to act in a 
consistent manner, free from ambiguity and totally transparently in its 
relations with the foreign investor, so that it may know beforehand any 
and all rules and regulations that will govern its investments, as well as the 
goals of the relevant policies and administrative practices or directives, to 
be able to plan its investment and comply with such regulations. . . .  The 
foreign investor also expects the host State to act consistently, i.e. without 
arbitrarily revoking any preexisting decisions or permits issued by the 
State that were relied upon by the investor to assume its commitments as 
well as to plan and launch its commercial and business activities.  The 
investor also expects the State to use the legal instruments that govern the 
actions of the investor or the investment in conformity with the function 
usually assigned to such instruments, and not to deprive the investor of its 
investment without required compensation.193 

90. It is further agreed that the host government’s conduct does not need to be egregious or 

shocking to rise to the level of a FET violation.194 Indeed, investment tribunals have 

noted instead that it is possible for the State to violate FET “without necessarily acting in 

bad faith.”195  Nevertheless, as further explained below, bad faith is seen as diametrically 

opposed to the concept of FET. Accordingly, the presence of bad faith conduct alone may 

be sufficient to demonstrate a FET violation.196 

91. In sum, in order to comply with the obligation to accord FET under the FTA, Respondent 

is required, among other things, to uphold and not frustrate Claimants’ legitimate 

193 Tecnicas Medioambientales Tecmed S.A. v. The United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB (AF)/00/2 
(“Tecmed”), Award (29 May 2003) para 154 (emphasis added) (CL-0020-ENG). 
194 Micula (n 187) para 508 (CL-0014-ENG). 
195 See Tecmed (n 193) para 153 (CL-0020-ENG).  
196 Cargill, Inc. v. United Mexican States, ICSID Case No. ARB (AF)/05/2, Award (18 September 2009) para 296 
(CL-0021-ENG). 



expectations, to act transparently, not arbitrarily, and in good faith with respect to 

Claimants’ Investments, to refrain from tortious or abusive conduct, and to provide 

proper due process. 

92. By freezing SAMIR’s bank accounts, seizing SAMIR’s assets, directing SAMIR to sell 

Carlyle’s Commodities into the Moroccan market, sweeping from SAMIR’s accounts the 

proceeds from the unauthorized sales of Carlyle’s Commodities, and instructing local 

Moroccan distributors to pay the proceeds from the unauthorized sales directly to the 

Government – all without providing Claimants prior notice or any opportunity to object –

Respondent (i) disrupted and undermined Claimants’ legitimate expectations with respect 

to their Investments; and acted (ii) without transparency, (iii) arbitrarily, and (iv) in bad 

faith as to the Investments.  Accordingly, Respondent unquestionably breached its 

obligation under Article 10.5.1 of the FTA to accord FET to Claimants’ Investments. 

i. Respondent Usurped Claimants’ Legitimate Expectations 

93. First, Respondent breached its FET obligation under the FTA by usurping Claimants’ 

legitimate expectations that their Investments would proceed in accordance with the 

terms of the various Investment Agreements. 

94. Since Tecmed, upholding the legitimate expectations of the investor and a stable legal and 

business environment have been considered “central” and “essential” to the definition of 

FET.197  This concept is centered in the belief that the investors’ decisions to invest, 

along with the details of what, when, and how they will invest, will be significantly 

impacted by the investors’ understanding of the host government’s requirements and 

expected actions toward the investments.198 

197 See El Paso (n 187) paras 346, 348 (CL-0015-ENG); CMS Gas Transmission Co. v. The Argentine Republic, 
ICSID Case No. ARB/01/8, Award (12 May 2005) para 274 (CL-0022-ENG).   
198 See Saluka Investments BV (Netherlands) v. The Czech Republic, UNCITRAL (“Saluka”), Partial Award (17 
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based on an assessment of the state of the law and the totality of the business environment at the time of the 
investment as well as on the investor’s expectation that the conduct of the host State subsequent to the investment 
will be fair and equitable.”) (CL-0023-ENG). 



95. As stated in Suez v. Argentine Republic: 

When an investor undertakes an investment, a host government through its 
laws, regulations, declared policies, and statements creates in the investor 
certain expectations about the nature of the treatment that it may anticipate 
from the host State.  The resulting reasonable and legitimate expectations 
are important factors that influence initial investment decisions and 
afterwards the manner in which the investment is to be managed. . . .  An 
investor’s expectations, created by law of a host country, are in effect 
calculations about the future.199 

96. If a FET obligation exists, an investor’s legitimate expectations with respect to its 

investments in a host country are thus required to be honored by the host government 

because the investor acts in reliance on the host government’s explicit and implicit 

representations.  The investor changes its economic position by investing capital and 

taking on financial risk that it otherwise might not undertake in the absence of certain 

basic expectations that, for example, the host government will not unlawfully take over or 

completely destroy its investments.  If the host government suddenly acts in direct 

opposition to its previous representations and harms the investments in doing so, the host 

government has violated its FET obligation.200 

97. For example, in Micula, Romania instituted a special regulatory regime for disfavored 

regions of the country that created the legitimate expectation that certain tax exemptions 

and other incentives would remain in place during the entire ten-year period.  Having 

enticed the claimants to make substantial investments in reliance on these incentives, 

Romania then abruptly changed its legislation and withdrew most of the incentives four 

years before they were scheduled to expire.  The tribunal found this sudden change to 

have upended the claimants’ legitimate expectations – nearly having eviscerated the 

value of their investments – and therefore in violation of the FET standard.201 

98. As another example, in Gold Reserve v. Venezuela, the claimant argued that, after it was 

granted certain permits to engage in mining activities, Venezuela reinforced the belief 

199 Suez, Sociedad General de Aguas de Barcelona S.A., and InterAgua Servicios Integrales del Agua S.A.  v. The 
Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/03/17, Decision on Liability (30 July 2010) para 203 (emphasis added) 
(CL-0024-ENG). 
200 Id., para 207.  
201 Micula (n 187) paras 721-25 (CL-0014-ENG). 



and expectation that claimant’s mining activities were compliant with applicable laws by 

consistently issuing compliance certificates to claimant.202  As the tribunal in the case 

stated, such expectations were reinforced by the absence of any warnings or formal notice 

from the state to the contrary.203 Yet, following a political policy change, claimant’s 

permits were progressively hindered and ultimately cancelled.204  The tribunal found the 

state’s “breach of legitimate expectations as a FET component [to be] of particular 

significance” and held that Venezuela had violated its FET obligation.205 

99. A breach of the FET obligation was also found in Masdar Solar & Wind Cooperatief v. 

Spain, where the claimant, seeking to invest in renewable energy and sustainable 

technology internationally, undertook substantial due diligence of Spain’s solar thermal 

technology market, found a favorable regulatory and economic framework in that market 

for claimant’s investments, and invested in three CSP plants.206  But soon after claimants 

received confirmation from the Ministry of Industry, Tourism and Trade that the 

favorable regulatory and economic framework would apply to claimants’ plants and the 

plants had become officially registered for those purposes, Spain began working on 

modifying that regime.207  The new regulatory and economic framework that resulted 

was contrary to claimants’ legitimate expectations, leading the tribunal to conclude that, 

by its actions, Spain had breached its FET obligation.208 

100. As in the foregoing cases, Respondent breached its FET obligation by failing to uphold 

Claimants’ legitimate expectations. Specifically, Claimants had every reason to expect 

that Respondent would treat Claimants’ Investments fairly and equitably in accordance 

with customary international law.  As described in Section IV above, Claimants, like the 

conscientious claimant in Masdar, developed a reasonable expectation that their 

Investments would be treated fairly and equitably after conducting months of due 

202 Gold Reserve Inc. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, ICSID Case No. ARB (AF)/09/1 (“Gold Reserve”), 
Award (22 September 2014) para 578 (CL-0025-ENG). 
203 Id. para 579. 
204 Id., paras 581-82. 
205 Id., paras 606, 615. 
206 Masdar Solar & Wind Cooperatief U.A. v. Kingdom of Spain, ICSID Case No. ARB/14/1 (“Masdar”), Award 
(16 May 2018) paras 82-89 (CL-0026-ENG). 
207 Id., paras 96-99, 127-137. 
208 Id., para 522. 



diligence on SAMIR and the business conditions in Morocco, and taking steps to ensure 

that Claimants’ Investments and the underlying Investment Agreements were compliant 

with Moroccan law.209 

101. Similarly, as in Masdar as well as in Micula and Gold Reserve, Claimants’ expectations 

were then specifically reinforced by the conduct of the Government, which included the 

absence of any disapproval whatsoever by the Government of any of the individual 

Transactions, the details of which were sent to the Government by SAMIR. Furthermore, 

before Claimants entered into any Transactions with SAMIR pursuant to the Investment 

Agreements, the specific overriding structure of the Transactions first had to be approved 

by the Moroccan Foreign Exchange Office.210  Interacting with the Foreign Exchange 

Office via SAMIR throughout late 2014 and early 2015, Claimants’ representatives 

provided the Foreign Exchange Office with all of the information it requested regarding 

the contemplated Investments.211  Claimants’ responses clearly satisfied the 

Government’s requests since the deal with SAMIR was approved and moved forward. 

These interactions reinforced Claimants’ expectations that Respondent – through the 

Foreign Exchange Office – was well aware not only of Claimants’ identity but also the 

detailed nature of the Investments that Claimants expected to make in Morocco over the 

course of the Investment Agreements. 

102. Indeed, when the Foreign Exchange Office issued its formal approval of the Transactions 

on January 16, 2015, it was specifically highlighted that Claimants would have title to the 

Commodities.212  Consequently, Claimants were further assured that, whenever 

necessary, Respondent would recognize Claimants’ title to the Commodities stored in 

SAMIR’s tanks (unless and until SAMIR purchased the commodities and paid the 

premium in accordance with the Investment Agreements). 

103. Claimants continued to be assured of Respondent’s awareness and approval of 

Claimants’ Investments throughout the first seven months of 2015 because, during that 

209 Olivo Statement, paras 6-7. 
210 Id., para 8. 
211 Id., para 9. 
212 Id., para 10. 



time, SAMIR sought approval from the Foreign Exchange Office prior to entering into 

each individual Transaction with Claimants, and then obtained such approval.213  Indeed, 

like the Venezuelan government, which consistently issued compliance certificates to the 

claimant in Gold Reserve, the Moroccan Foreign Exchange Office consistently approved 

every Transaction that SAMIR submitted for approval and never issued any warnings or 

notice to suggest that the Transactions would not be honored. 

104. Significantly, in June 2015, when Claimants and SAMIR sought to increase the volume 

of the Transactions pursuant to the Investment Agreements, the Foreign Exchange Office 

should have once again been directly involved in the review and re-approval of the 

Investments.214  The parameters of the Investments in Morocco all changed suddenly and 

without notice in August 2015, however, when the Government seized the assets of the 

SAMIR refinery, including those belonging to Claimants, and took the other wrongful 

actions described herein.215  Indeed, less than two months after Claimants agreed to 

commit even more capital to their Investments, Respondent completely upended 

Claimants’ legitimate and reasonable expectations regarding their Investments.  In short, 

like Romania’s abrupt change of legislation in Micula, the sudden action of the 

Government in August 2015 and the following months upended Claimants’ expectations 

that their investments would be honored for at least the duration of the three-year 

commitment period. 

105. Notwithstanding Respondent’s affirmative acknowledgment of Claimants’ Investments, 

Claimants’ title to Commodities stored in SAMIR’s tanks, and Claimants’ entitlement to 

any proceeds from the sales of those Commodities, Respondent indiscriminately seized 

and forced non-consented sales of Claimants’ Commodities without any notice to 

Claimants. 

106. Respondent did so even as Claimants repeatedly reminded Respondent that at least a 

significant portion of the Commodities seized belonged to Claimants.  Significantly, 

Carlyle representatives traveled to Morocco during the week of December 14, 2015, and 

met with the Moroccan Minister of Economy and Finance, Mohamed Boussaid. During 

213 Id.  
214 See id., para 21. 
215 See supra, para 48. 



that meeting, the Minister tacitly acknowledged and certainly never denied that the frozen 

funds in SAMIR’s bank accounts belonged to Carlyle, and assured Carlyle that Carlyle 

would be paid those funds once SAMIR and the Government were able to resolve their 

issues.216 

107. Following that meeting, Claimants sent a letter on December 21, 2015, to the Minister, 

emphasizing that Claimants’ Commodities had been improperly removed from SAMIR’s 

tanks without consent from or payment to Claimants, and imploring the Government to 

release a payment to Claimants from SAMIR’s frozen bank accounts.217  Later that same 

month, Claimants sent another letter to the U.S. Ambassador to the Kingdom of 

Morocco, reiterating that their Commodities had been wrongfully removed from 

SAMIR’s facilities and sold into the local Moroccan market, and explaining that a 

substantial cash payment needed to be released to Carlyle from SAMIR’s frozen bank 

accounts by December 31, 2015.218 

108. The Government never responded to either letter and never relented from its wrongful 

conduct.  Because Respondent refused to reach a resolution of any type with SAMIR, the 

Minister’s assurances that Carlyle would be paid upon resolution went unfulfilled.  

Furthermore, Respondent made no efforts to compensate Claimants for the wrongful 

disposal of Carlyle’s Commodities. 

109. Through all of the above actions, Respondent unquestionably violated Claimants’ 

legitimate expectations with respect to their Investments, clearly contradicting the 

Parties’ stated “desir[e] to . . . foster a predictable and mutually advantageous commercial 

environment” under the FTA.  Like the host governments in Micula, Masdar, and Gold 

Reserve, Respondent’s conduct here through the first half of 2015 reflected 

acknowledgment and approval of Claimants’ Investments (in particular, Claimants’ 

ownership of certain Commodities in SAMIR’s tanks and Put Rights), and thereby 

created the expectation that Claimants’ Investments would be recognized and accorded 

appropriate treatment.  Respondent, however, wholly disregarded Claimants’ Investments 

when it undertook the above-described actions beginning in August 2015, eviscerating 

216 Olivo Statement, para 46, Ex. 45 (MO-0044). 
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Claimants’ expectation that Respondent would be mindful of their rights.  Even when 

Claimants reminded Respondent of its prior acknowledgment and approval of the 

Transactions, beseeching the Government for relief both in person and in writing, 

Claimants’ pleas were not heard. 

110. Because Respondent failed to uphold even the basic expectation that it would not directly 

interfere with and take over Claimants’ Investments, Respondent breached its obligation 

under the FTA to accord Claimants’ Investments fair and equitable treatment. 

ii. Respondent’s Actions Lacked Transparency 

111. Second, Respondent’s actions lacked transparency and breached its “commitment to 

transparency” obligation under the FTA. 

112. Part and parcel of a foreign investor’s legitimate expectations regarding its investments is 

a related expectation that, under the applicable investment treaty, the host state will act 

“totally transparently” vis-à-vis the investor.219  In other words, an investor whose 

investment is covered by a FET obligation expects to know “all rules and regulations that 

will govern its investments, as well as the goals of the relevant policies and 

administrative practices or directives[.]”220  Because the investor will act in accordance 

with its perceived knowledge, it is “[the] duty [of the host government] to ensure that the 

correct position is promptly determined and clearly stated so that [the] investor[] can 

proceed with all appropriate expedition in the confident belief that they are acting in 

accordance with all relevant laws.”221 

113. When Respondent suddenly froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, took over the refinery, and 

began forcing SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s Commodities into the Moroccan market, 

Claimants had no warning or clear explanation for the Government’s actions, especially 

as they affected Claimants.222  Claimants’ Investments were made with the knowledge 

and approval of the Government, and there was no reason for the Government to 

blatantly disregard Claimants’ ownership of their Commodities or Claimants’ entitlement 

219 Tecmed (n 193) para 154 (CL-0020-ENG). 
220 Id. 
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to the proceeds of any sale of those Commodities.  Claimants initially had no visibility 

into which branch, division, or sub-unit of the Government was responsible for the 

seizure and disposal of Claimants’ Commodities; this meant that Claimants did not know 

the appropriate forum for their grievances until many months after the wrongful actions 

took place.  Letters that Claimants addressed to the representatives of Respondent that 

Claimants believed to have knowledge of or involvement in the wrongful conduct were 

never even acknowledged.  These actions clearly deprived Claimants of the ability to take 

appropriate actions to protect their Investments and were violations of Respondent’s FET 

obligations under the FTA. 

iii. Respondent Took Arbitrary Measures Against Claimants’ Investments 

114. Third, Respondent’s actions were arbitrary, motivated by political desires rather than for 

any legitimate or legal purpose.  Because arbitrariness as a concept is “in itself contrary 

to fair and equitable treatment,”223 Respondent also breached its FET obligation for this 

reason. 

115. The prohibition against arbitrary conduct by a host government that is obligated to accord 

FET to foreign investments reflects the belief that contracting States to an investment 

agreement should not implement measures or take any other actions affecting covered 

investments “without engaging in a rational decision-making process.”224  As noted 

above, if the host government’s conduct (i) willfully disregards due process and 

procedure, (ii) does not appear to be based on an objective legal standard, (iii) is, in fact, 

taken for reasons other than the stated reason, or (iv) inflicts damage on an investor 

without serving any apparent legitimate purpose, the host government will be found to 

have acted arbitrarily and in violation of FET.225  

116. For example, in Lemire v. Ukraine, the tribunal found that Ukraine had acted arbitrarily 

toward the claimant’s investments in radio broadcasting – and therefore in violation of 

FET – because Ukraine had (i) made unsubstantiated decisions to deny several of the 

223 CMS (n 197) para 290 (CL-0022-ENG).   
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claimant’s bids for radio frequencies, while tendering the frequencies to other parties, 

pursuant to a non-transparent and closed procedure that was not available to the claimant, 

and (ii) excluded the claimant from at least one official tender session.226  Among other 

reasons, the tribunal did not accept Ukraine’s argument that the tender was aimed at 

renewing expired licenses because it concluded that, as a matter of law, renewals of such 

licenses should have happened as a matter of right. The tribunal deemed Ukraine’s 

argument to the contrary a “legal impossibility” and “at any rate entirely implausible,”227 

and determined that Ukraine’s overall frequency tendering processes was arbitrary and 

“manifestly violat[ive of] the [FET] requirements of consistency, transparency, even-

handedness and non-discrimination.”228  

117. The tribunal in Deutsche Telekom v. India likewise found a FET violation where India 

had arbitrarily annulled an agreement between the claimant, a German 

telecommunications company, and an Indian state-owned company regarding the lease of 

spectrum on two satellites.229  Although India tried to justify the annulment by citing a 

“need to protect military needs,” the tribunal found, after first putting aside the dubious 

premise that there had been essential military needs warranting annulment,230 that there 

was “no appropriate correlation between the asserted public policy objective and the 

measure adopted to achieve it . . . .”231  Instead, it found that India had chosen “the most 

extreme solution (the annulment) and then [sought] to justify it ex post.”232  According to 

the tribunal, this arbitrary conduct resulted from a “flawed” decision-making process and 

constituted a FET violation.233 

118. Respondent’s actions here are as arbitrary, if not more arbitrary, than those of Ukraine in 

Lemire and India in Deutsche Telekom.  Respondent’s seizure of SAMIR’s refinery and 
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forced sale of Claimants’ Commodities happened unexpectedly and without prior notice 

or opportunity to object.  Although Respondent claimed after the fact that its conduct 

related to SAMIR’s unpaid taxes,234 Respondent’s actions, purportedly to effectuate 

repayment of those taxes by SAMIR, were plainly disproportionate to the objective and 

unjustifiably extreme and irrational, given that the assets seized and funds swept 

belonged to third parties such as Carlyle.  Indeed, Respondent provided no explanation as 

to why the seizure of the assets at the refinery or the freezing and sweeping of SAMIR’s 

bank accounts, which included funds owed to Claimants and other third parties, 

constituted an appropriate response to the allegedly overdue taxes. 

119. Respondent was fully aware that a significant portion of the commodities that SAMIR 

was forced to sell in fact belonged to Claimants,235 and that therefore the sale of such 

Commodities could not and should not have been effectuated for purposes of allegedly 

fulfilling SAMIR’s Moroccan tax obligations. 

120. In addition, Claimants heard from various sources that certain highly-ranked Government 

officials had no interest in allowing SAMIR to continue under Sheikh Al-Amoudi’s 

ownership.236  The forced liquidation of SAMIR (rather than the amicable settlement it 

had sought) indicates that these political motivations were more than just mere rumors, 

and that the Government’s reliance on unpaid taxes as an explanation for its conduct was 

more pretext than a genuine rationale underlying a “rational decision-making process.” 

121. In short, the arbitrariness of Respondent’s actions further support a finding that 

Respondent breached its FET obligations under the FTA. 

iv. Respondent Acted in Bad Faith With Respect to Claimants’ Investments 

122. Finally, Respondent’s conduct rose to the level of a FET violation because Respondent 

demonstrated egregious bad faith with respect to Claimants’ Investments. 
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123. As explained above, although a showing of the host government’s bad faith is not 

required to establish a violation of FET, demonstrable bad faith is sufficient for a finding 

of a FET violation237 because good faith is “inherent in fair and equitable treatment.”238 

124. As stated in Waste Mgmt., “[a] basic obligation of the State under Article 1105(1) 

[Minimum Standard of Treatment under NAFTA] is to act in good faith and form, and 

not deliberately to set out to destroy or frustrate the investment by improper means.”239  

In addition, foreign investors protected under a treaty that compels FET should be able to 

“properly expect that [a State] implements its policies bona fide by conduct that is, as far 

as it affects the investors’ investment, reasonably justifiable by public policies and that 

such conduct does not manifestly violate the requirements of consistency, transparency, 

even-handedness and non-discrimination.”240 

125. Specific examples of bad faith giving rise to a FET violation might include the host 

state’s “use of legal instruments for purposes other than those for which they were 

created[,]” “a conspiracy by state organs to inflict damage upon or to defeat the 

investment, the termination of the investment for reasons other than the one put forth by 

the government,” “expulsion of an investment based on local favouritism[,]” and 

“[r]eliance by a government on its internal structures to excuse non-compliance with 

contractual obligations . . . .”241  Bad faith might also be demonstrated by a “blatant 

disregard” for certain rules, legal constructs, and procedures that may otherwise be 

applicable to the foreign investor.242 

126. Here, Respondent’s “blatant disregard” of Carlyle’s rights under the Investment 

Agreements, despite SAMIR’s and Carlyle’s numerous reminders that a significant 

portion of the seized assets belonged to Carlyle, is a clear indication that the Government 

was acting in bad faith. 
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127. Again, the Government was fully cognizant of Claimants’ investment arrangement with 

SAMIR from its inception, and the January 16, 2015 letter from the Foreign Exchange 

Office even conveyed the Government’s approval of the arrangement, which expressly 

provided that Carlyle would own the Commodities and hold title to them while they were 

in storage at SAMIR.243  The Government should have also been aware of the June 22, 

2015 agreement between Carlyle and SAMIR to increase the Investment volume given 

the Exchange Office’s requirement that each Transaction be approved. The Government, 

however, did not take any of this into account when it seized all of the assets at SAMIR’s 

facilities and forced the sale of commodities, including those owned by Claimants, into 

the Moroccan market without giving any prior notice or opportunity to their rightful 

owners to object.  Moreover, the Government did not undertake any due diligence, 

whether before or after its actions, to determine whether the commodities it was 

inappropriately dealing in belonged to third-parties like Carlyle.  Even when Claimants 

sought to intervene to (among other things) suspend the Moroccan Customs Office’s 

“third party holder notification procedure” on the basis that the funds being diverted to 

the Government pursuant to such procedure belonged or were owed to Claimants, the 

Government, in bad faith, simply chose to disregard Claimants’ ownership of the 

Commodities and the related proceeds.244 

128. As noted above in Section IV, throughout the fall of 2015, Claimants were repeatedly 

told that SAMIR was in negotiations with the Government and that successful 

negotiations would lead to reparations to Claimants for their Investment losses. However, 

as of that winter, SAMIR was still being forced to supply the domestic market with 

refined products (even though the refinery had been shut down),245 and SAMIR remained 

with neither a resolution with the Government nor an official recapitalization plan.  

Indeed, the Government’s refusal to negotiate in good faith with SAMIR led SAMIR 

directly into bankruptcy,246 indicating that the Government never sincerely intended to 
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resolve its alleged tax dispute with SAMIR and/or allow Claimants to recover their 

losses. 

129. As also noted above in Section IV, despite receiving several bids in SAMIR’s bankruptcy 

proceedings, Respondent (through the Moroccan courts) have continued to impose 

arbitrary requirements on prospective buyers of SAMIR, conditioning bids not only on 

their ability to obtain the Government’s approval, but also on their ability to secure 

deposits from a Moroccan bank (a formidable task).247  In doing so, Respondent 

effectively prevented SAMIR from avoiding bankruptcy and, in turn, prevented 

Claimants from recovering the moneys due to them.  Furthermore, this conduct is another 

indication that Respondent acted in bad faith in this matter, and is additional evidence 

that Respondent breached the FET obligation under the FTA. 

130. In sum, Respondent’s actions undermined Claimants’ legitimate expectations, lacked 

transparency, were arbitrary in nature, and demonstrated bad faith with respect to 

Claimants’ Investments.  Each element is independently sufficient to establish a breach of 

Respondent’s FET obligation, but, in the aggregate, Respondent’s breach is made 

glaringly clear.  Accordingly, Respondent should be held liable for its wrongful conduct. 

B. Respondent Breached its Article 10.6 Obligation to Not Expropriate 
Claimants’ Investments Without Just Compensation 

131. Respondent should also be held liable because its conduct constituted an unlawful 

expropriation of Claimants’ Investments in violation of Article 10.6 of the FTA. 

132. Article 10.6 of the FTA provides, in relevant part: 

1. Neither Party may expropriate or nationalize a covered investment either directly or 
indirectly through measures equivalent to expropriation or nationalization 
(“expropriation”) except: 

(a) for a public purpose; 

(b) in a non-discriminatory manner; 

(c) on payment of prompt, adequate, and effective compensation; and 

(d) in accordance with due process of law and Article 10.5.1 through 10.5.3. 
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2. The compensation referred to in paragraph 1(c) shall: 

(a) be paid without delay; 

(b) be equivalent to the fair market value of the expropriated investment 
immediately before the expropriation took place (“the date of 
expropriation”); 

(c) not reflect any change in value occurring because the intended 
expropriation had become known earlier; and 

(d) be fully realizable and freely transferable.248 

133. These provisions prohibit a host state from expropriating investments protected under the 

FTA unless all of the enumerated conditions are met.  Yet here, Respondent failed to 

meet any of the treaty’s requirements, and instead acted to expropriate property 

belonging to Claimants without providing them with any compensation or due process. 

134. Specifically, the seizure of assets at the SAMIR refinery, which included property 

belonging to Claimants that SAMIR had taken, and the freezing and sweeping of 

accounts that included funds belonging to Claimants were expropriating acts for which 

Claimants received not only no compensation but also no due process by way of a 

hearing or other opportunity to be heard.  Moreover, the disproportionality of the actions 

is such that it cannot be convincingly argued that these actions were taken for a 

recognizable public purpose. Respondent thus unlawfully expropriated Claimants’ 

Investments in violation of Article 10.6 of the FTA. 

i. Respondent Expropriated Claimants’ Commodities 

135. While Article 10.6.1 does not define “expropriation,” Annex 10-B of the FTA249 states 

that Article 10.6.1 should reflect “customary international law concerning the obligation 

of States with respect to expropriation[,]” and that “[a]n action or a series of actions by a 

Party cannot constitute an expropriation unless it interferes with a tangible or intangible 

property right or property interest in an investment.”250 

248 FTA, art 10.6.1(c). 
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136. Annex 10-B further makes clear that Article 10.6.1 is intended to address both situations 

of (1) direct expropriation, where an investment is expropriated “through formal transfer 

of title or outright seizure,” and (2) indirect expropriation, where “an action or series of 

actions by a Party has an effect equivalent to direct expropriation without formal transfer 

of title or outright seizure.”251 

137. Under international law, the expropriated property at issue need not be tangible physical 

assets, but can be contractual rights.252 Here, Respondent’s conduct constituted both a 

direct expropriation of Claimants’ Commodities and an indirect expropriation of 

Claimants’ contractual Put Rights. 

(a) Direct Expropriation 

138. Both the FTA and investment tribunals make clear that a host state’s “outright seizure” or 

“forcible taking” of property is sufficient to constitute a direct expropriation and that 

formal transfer of title to that property to the host state is not required.253 

139. In Gemplus v. United Mexican States, for example, the claimants made investments in 

Mexico in and through an investment company. In 1999, a consortium in which the 

claimants were members successfully tendered for a concession granted by Mexico to 

establish and operate a national road vehicle registration system. After granting the 

concession and permitting the company to operate, Mexico subsequently took a number 

of measures that frustrated the claimants’ venture, first by intervening in the operations of 

the company and ultimately by arbitrarily revoking the concession in December 2002 and 

interfering with the investment assets without compensation.  Explaining that “a direct 
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expropriation occurs if the state deliberately takes [an] investment away from the 

investor[,]” the tribunal held the outright revocation of the concession in the Gemplus 

claimants’ situation was a direct expropriation of their investments.254 

140. Also instructive is the decision in Burlington Resources v. Ecuador, in which the 

claimant (Burlington) held investment interests in two crude oil field blocks pursuant to 

certain production-sharing contracts with Ecuador.  After a series of run-ins with the 

Ecuadorian government over unsuccessful renegotiations of the contracts to make them 

more favorable to the government, and the institution of tax proceedings against claimant 

(which claimant argued were retaliatory proceedings for the unsuccessful contract 

negotiations), Burlington was left with no choice but to temporarily suspend operations in 

its blocks.  While operations were suspended, the Ecuadorian government physically 

entered and took possession of claimant’s blocks.  The investment tribunal found that the 

government’s “arbitrary takeover of the Blocks was a complete and direct expropriation 

of Burlington’s investment.”255 

141. Here, Claimants committed large amounts of capital to obtain Commodities which, 

pursuant to the Investment Agreements, were physically stored in SAMIR’s tanks for a 

period of time, as specified in the corresponding transaction confirmation.256  During this 

period, title to the Commodities remained with Claimants, and SAMIR was not allowed 

to use, remove, sell, or otherwise dispose of Claimants’ Commodities.257 

142. According to all accounts, in or around August 2015, Respondent outright seized the 

assets at SAMIR’s refining facilities and then, having effectively taken over the refinery, 

deliberately directed the sale of products within SAMIR’s facilities into the Moroccan 

market.  But as explained above,  

 pursuant to sixteen Transactions entered into between February 

to August 2015, a significant amount of those products comprised a portion of Claimants’ 

Investments and legally belonged to Claimants, not SAMIR.  Therefore, Respondent’s 

254 Gemplus S.A., SLP S.A. and Gemplus Industrial S.A. de C.V. v. The United Mexican States, ICSID Case Nos. 
ARB(AF)/04/3 & ARB(AF)/04/4, Award (16 June 2010) paras 8-3, 8-23, 8-24 (CL-0033-ENG). 
255 Burlington Resources Inc. v. Republic of Ecuador, ICSID Case No. ARB/08/5 (“Burlington”), Decision on 
Liability (14 December 2012) paras 119-24 (CL-0034-ENG). 
256 See Olivo Statement, paras 12-13.   
257 Id., para 13.   
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physical possession of SAMIR’s refinery, similar to the Ecuadorian government’s 

physical occupation of the claimant’s oil blocks in Burlington and the Mexican 

government’s absolute revocation of the Gemplus claimants’ concession, led to a direct 

interference with, and expropriation of, Carlyle’s Commodities. 

143. Approximately 960,000 metric ton equivalents of Claimants’ Commodities were disposed 

of without Claimants’ consent and without any compensation to Claimants for the nearly 

$430 million invested.258  Because Claimants’ Commodities were put directly into the 

stream of commerce in Morocco, there was – and continues to be – no way to retrieve 

them. Respondent’s conduct thus constituted an unlawful direct expropriation of 

Claimants’ Commodities. 

(b) Indirect Expropriation 

144. Regarding indirect expropriation, the FTA indicates that it must be determined pursuant 

to a “case-by-case, fact-based inquiry” which factors in, among other things, “(i) the 

economic impact of the government action . . . ; (ii) the extent to which the government 

action interferes with distinct, reasonable investment-backed expectations; and (iii) the 

character of the government action.”259 

145. As noted above, “there is considerable authority for the proposition that contract rights 

[and other intangible property] are entitled to the protection of international law and that 

the taking of such rights involves an obligation to make compensation therefore[,]”260 

and contractual rights that are expropriated will typically be considered indirectly 

expropriated261 – i.e., not literally taken by the host government but impacted in such a 

way that it is as if the contractual rights were rendered void and non-existent. 

146. Indeed, investment tribunals have held that the “essential question” for a determination of 

indirect expropriation is “whether the enjoyment of the property has been effectively 

neutralized.”262  As the Tecmed tribunal explained: 

258 Graybill Report, para 51. 
259 FTA, Annex 10-B, cl. 4(a) (CL-0001-ENG). 
260 SPP v. Egypt, 3 ICSID Reports 189, Award (20 May 1992) para 164 (CL-0035-ENG). 
261 Id., para 165. 
262 CMS (n 197) para 262 (CL-0022-ENG). 



To establish whether [Respondent’s conduct] is a measure equivalent to an 
[indirect] expropriation . . . , it must be first determined if the Claimant, 
due to the [conduct], was radically deprived of the economical use and 
enjoyment of its investments, as if the rights related thereto—such as the 
income or benefits related to the [property] or to its exploitation—had 
ceased to exist.  In other words, if due to the actions of the Respondent, 
the assets involved have lost their value or economic use for their 
holder.263 

147. For example, in SPP v. Egypt, claimants entered into a contractual arrangement with the 

Egyptian government’s tourism department to develop certain sites for tourism.264  Mere 

months after the development plan was approved and construction began, Egypt 

subsequently cancelled the project due to political opposition, leading claimants to lose 

the full value of their contracts; the publicity fallout further hindered claimants from 

being able to raise additional funds for other projects and investments.265  The 

government attempted to argue that “the term ‘expropriation’ applies only to jus in 

rem[,]” but the tribunal rejected this contention, citing a long history of tribunals 

recognizing the indirect expropriation of contractual rights.266  Because Egypt’s 

cancellation of the project fundamentally deprived claimants of their contractual rights, 

the tribunal held that an indirect expropriation had occurred.267 

148. An indirect expropriation was also found in Middle East Cement Shipping & Handling 

Co. v. Arab Republic of Egypt, where claimant operated a cement import, storage, and 

dispatching business in accordance with a ten-year free-zone license.  Several years into 

the duration of claimant’s license, Egypt unexpectedly issued a governmental decree 

generally prohibiting the import of cement (other than certain imports covered by 

government contracts).  Explaining that measures rising to the level of indirect 

expropriation were measures whose effect is to “deprive the investor of the use and 

benefit of [its] investment even though [it] may retain nominal ownership of the 

263 Tecmed (n 193) para 115 (emphasis added) (CL-0020-ENG). 
264 SPP (n 260) para 43 (CL-0035-ENG). 
265 Id., paras 60-65, 161. 
266 Id., para 164. 
267 Id., paras 163, 178. 



respective rights being the investment,” the tribunal held that an indirect expropriation 

had been effected against claimant’s license, i.e., its investment.268 

149. Finally, in Certain German Interests in Polish Upper Silesia, Poland took possession of a 

factory, the management and operation of which was handled by a managing company 

called Bayerische pursuant to certain patents and contracts.269  The Permanent Court of 

International Justice held that Poland’s expropriation of the Chorzów Factory constituted 

an indirect expropriation of Bayerische’s patents and contracts.  Although Bayerische did 

not own the factory itself, the Court explained, “it is clear that the rights of the 

Bayerische to the exploitation of the factory and to the remuneration fixed by the contract 

for the management of the exploitation and for the use of its patents, licenses, 

experiments, etc., have been directly prejudiced by the taking over of the factory by 

Poland. As these rights related to the Chorzów factory and were, so to speak, 

concentrated in the factory, the prohibition [against unlawful expropriation] contained in 

the last sentence of Article 6 of the [German-Polish Convention on Upper Silesia] applies 

in respect of them.”270 

150. Respondent’s actions are most directly analogous to those in Chorzów I, but the effect of 

its actions on Claimants’ Investments is of the same destructive magnitude as in all of the 

cases noted in the preceding paragraphs.  Respondent undeniably froze SAMIR’s bank 

accounts and seized the assets in the SAMIR refining facilities.  Although Claimants 

were not the direct owners of the bank accounts or the refining facilities, Claimants, by 

virtue of their Investment Agreements with the direct owner (SAMIR), had valuable 

contractual rights (the Put Rights) that were rendered worthless by Respondent’s conduct. 

151. As discussed above in Sections III and IV, Claimants’ contractual Put Rights gave them 

an option to sell their Commodities back to SAMIR at a fixed “purchase price” 

designated in the Confirmations.271  In order for Claimants to exercise their Put Rights, 

268 Middle East Cement Shipping & Handling Co. S.A. v. Egypt, ICSID Case No. ARB/99/6 (“Middle East 
Cement”), Award (12 April 2002) para 107 (CL-0036-ENG). 
269 Certain German Interests in Polish Upper Silesia (Germ. v. Pol.) (“Chorzów I”), 1926 P.C.I.J. (ser. A) No. 7 (25 
May 1925), p 43 (CL-0037-ENG). 
270 Id., p 44.  
271 See supra, paras 41-42.   



(1) Claimants needed to have the Commodities to sell and (2) SAMIR needed to have 

funds to buy them at the agreed-upon price.  Only upon receipt of payment would title to 

the Commodities pass to SAMIR.272 

152. Obviously, Respondent did not literally usurp Claimants’ Put Rights by, for example, 

substituting itself into Claimants’ Investment Agreements with SAMIR.  However, by 

freezing and sweeping SAMIR’s bank accounts and seizing and directing the disposal of 

the very property that would allow Claimants to exercise their Put Rights under the 

Investment Agreements, Claimants were put in the same situation as the claimants in 

Tecmed, Middle East Cement, and Chorzów I – that is, they were deprived of the 

opportunity to use and benefit from their Put Rights and therefore left without economic 

value in their Investments. 

153. In other words, although Claimants “retain[ed] nominal ownership”273 of their Put Rights 

(in that Claimants remained contractually entitled to exercise their Put Rights), without 

the Commodities, Claimants literally had nothing to sell back to SAMIR pursuant to the 

Investment Agreements, and without access to its bank accounts, SAMIR had no means 

of paying Claimants in any event.  Respondent’s conduct “effectively neutralized” and 

thus indirectly expropriated Claimants’ Put Rights. 

ii. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not for a Public Purpose 

154. Respondent’s expropriation was also unlawful under the FTA because it did not serve 

any public purpose.  There was no public, government-propagated announcement 

declaring, let alone explaining, the reason for, the seizure of SAMIR’s refining facilities, 

and there was certainly no individual statement sent to Claimants or any other owners of 

commodities at SAMIR’s facilities. 

155. While Article 10.6.1 of the FTA exempts an expropriation that, among other things, was 

“for a public purpose,” the alleged public purpose must be more than a mere pretext for 

an otherwise unlawful expropriation. 

272 See id. 
273 Middle East Cement (n 268) para 107 (CL-0036-ENG).  



156. In Yukos Universal Limited v. Russian Federation, shareholders of Yukos, the leading oil 

company (and largest taxpayer) of Russia, claimed that Russia wrongfully dispossessed 

Yukos of its assets and thereby expropriated Claimants by (i) levying massive – and 

illegitimate – taxes for alleged tax deficiencies uncovered in a random “re-audit” of the 

company, (ii) preventing Yukos from paying those taxes by freezing Yukos’ assets, (iii) 

seizing and transferring Yukos’ key assets, and (iv) forcing Yukos into involuntary 

bankruptcy proceedings.274 

157. Russia argued that those actions were justified by “the purposes [of] . . . imposition and 

enforcement of taxes, including severe penalties, fines and other sanctions in case of non-

compliance of taxpayers with their obligations to pay taxes,” and especially where 

Yukos’ “abuses of the low-tax region policy were particularly egregious and the amounts 

of taxes it evaded unprecedented.”275  The tribunal, however, found Russia’s response 

disproportionate to the alleged offenses: 

Among the many incidents in this train of mistreatment that are within the 
remit of this Tribunal, two stand out: finding Yukos liable for the payment 
of more than 13 billion dollars in VAT in respect of oil that had been 
exported by the trading companies and should have been free of VAT and 
free of fines in respect of VAT; and the auction of YNG at a price that was 
far less than its value. But for these actions, for which the Russian 
Federation for reasons set out above and in preceding chapters was 
responsible, Yukos would have been able to pay the tax claims of the 
Russian Federation justified or not; it would not have been bankrupted and 
liquidated (unless the Russian Federation were intent on its liquidation and 
found still additional grounds for achieving that end . . . .).276 

158. The totality of the evidence led the tribunal to conclude that “the primary objective of the 

Russian Federation was not to collect taxes but rather to bankrupt Yukos and appropriate 

its valuable assets.”277  The tribunal thus found “profoundly questionable” any argument 

274 See Yukos Universal Ltd v. Russian Federation, PCA Case No AA 227 (“Yukos”), Final Award (18 July 2014) 
para 63 (CL-0038-ENG). 
275 Id., paras 1569, 1571 (internal quotation marks omitted).  
276 Id., para 1579. 
277 Id. (internal quotation marks omitted).  



that the “destruction” of Yukos was in the public interest, such that the applicable 

exemption would apply.278 

159. Similarly, although the news media indicated that the Moroccan tax authority had seized 

assets at SAMIR’s refinery due to unpaid taxes, Respondent’s conduct was 

disproportionately harsh and even if tax payments were due – which SAMIR denied – 

could not have constituted an ordinary method of collecting overdue taxes given that a 

sizeable portion of the assets seized and funds swept belonged to Carlyle and others.279 

160. Not only did the Government suspend harbor activities and completely debilitate the 

normal operations of SAMIR, Morocco’s only oil refinery, Respondent also froze and 

swept SAMIR’s bank accounts.280  Respondent also directed SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s 

Commodities into the local market and instructed local Moroccan distributors to pay 

Respondent directly for those Commodities. After months of purported negotiations 

between SAMIR and Respondent, including an unanswered proposal from Sheikh Al-

Amoudi to implement a repayment schedule for the allegedly past due taxes and inject 

$700 million of capital into SAMIR, Claimants learned that Respondent had instead been 

directing SAMIR to make sales from its refining facilities, including sales of Carlyle’s 

Commodities, and collecting the proceeds from those sales.281 

161. When it became apparent that its good-faith negotiation efforts were not succeeding, 

SAMIR sought (but failed to obtain) an amicable settlement with the Government but 

was eventually forced into liquidation.  To this day, SAMIR has still failed to secure any 

buyer due to the Government’s unreasonably strict requirement that, in addition to its 

approval of any bid to purchase the refinery, all potential bidders must secure “deposits 

issued by a Moroccan bank.”282 

162. To say Respondent’s conduct was in the name of public interest is just as “profoundly 

questionable,” if not more so, than Russia’s assertion to that effect in Yukos.  As the 

278 Id., para 1581 (stating that the destruction of Yukos “was in the interest of the largest State-owned oil company, 
Rosneft, which took over the principal assets of Yukos virtually cost-free, but that is not the same as saying that it 
was in the public interest of the economy, polity and population of the Russian Federation.”). 
279 Olivo Statement, para 24. 
280 Id., paras 5, 25. 
281 Id., para 49. 
282 See supra, paras 80-81. 



owner and operator of the only refinery in Morocco, SAMIR—and Claimants’ 

Investments via transactions with SAMIR—contributed to the Moroccan “economy, 

polity and population.”  Seizing SAMIR’s assets and freezing its bank accounts was 

counterproductive, and left Morocco without a working refinery.  Respondent’s actions 

appear to have been aimed at benefiting only Respondent, not the public.  Therefore, 

Respondent’s expropriation cannot be considered lawful under the FTA. 

iii. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not Taken Upon Payment of Prompt, Adequate, 
and Effective Compensation 

163. Respondent’s expropriation also was not lawful because Respondent failed to pay any 

compensation to Claimants for the taking.  Even if Respondent’s conduct could be 

deemed an expropriation “for public purpose” under Article 10.16(1) of the FTA, which 

it clearly was not, an expropriation cannot be considered lawful under Article 10.6.1 if it 

was not taken upon payment of “prompt, adequate, and effective compensation.” 

164. Compensation is “prompt, adequate, and effective” under the FTA only if it “(a) [is] paid 

without delay; (b) [is] equivalent to the fair market value of the expropriated investment 

immediately before the expropriation took place . . . ; (c) [does] not reflect any change in 

value occurring because the intended expropriation had become known earlier; and (d) 

[is] fully realizable and freely transferable.”283 

165. There is no dispute that Respondent never has returned to Claimants any of its 

Commodities or cash proceeds for those Commodities, nor offered any compensation to 

Claimants for their substantial losses arising from Respondent’s expropriation.284  

Therefore, on that basis alone, Respondent’s expropriation should be considered unlawful 

under the FTA. 

iv. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not In Accordance With Due Process of Law 

166. Respondent’s actions also were unlawful because due process was not afforded to 

Claimants prior to or after the taking, in violation of Article 10.6.1, which requires any 

expropriation to take place in accordance with due process of law. 

283 FTA art 10.6.2. (CL-0001-ENG). 
284 See Zuech Statement, para 10; Olivo Statement, para 5; Suvagiya Statement, para 4.   



167. In ADC Affiliate Ltd. and ADC & ADMC Mgmt. Ltd. v. The Republic of Hungary, the 

investment tribunal noted that due process of law in the expropriation context requires the 

host government to provide a legitimate, substantive legal procedure for the foreign 

investor to contest the taking that has occurred or is expected imminently to occur against 

it.  As the tribunal elaborated: 

Some basic legal mechanisms, such as reasonable advance notice, a fair 
hearing and an unbiased and impartial adjudicator to assess the actions in 
dispute, are expected to be readily available and accessible to the investor 
to make such legal procedure meaningful.  In general, the legal procedure 
must be of a nature to grant an affected investor a reasonable chance 
within a reasonable time to claim its legitimate rights and have its claims 
heard.  If no legal procedure of such nature exists at all, the argument that 
‘the actions are taken under due process of law’ rings hollow.285 

168. In light of these requirements, the ADC tribunal held that Hungary had failed to provide 

due process to claimants when it passed a decree that hindered claimants from further 

providing services at the Budapest-Ferihegy International Airport. The degree deprived 

claimants of their investments (i.e., the commercial agreements underlying the prohibited 

operations) in an airport expansion project and required claimants to vacate the premises 

within three business days of receiving notice286 without providing any of the legal 

mechanisms (legitimate advance notice and a fair hearing to have its claims heard) that 

would constitute due process.287 

285 ADC Affiliate Ltd. and ADC & ADMC Mgmt. Ltd. v. The Republic of Hungary, ICSID Case No. ARB/03/16 
(“ADC”), Award, (2 October 2006) para 435 (underlined emphasis added) (italics in original) (CL-0039-ENG). 
286 Specifically, Hungary’s Air Traffic and Airport Administration (ATAA) sought to expand the Budapest-Ferihegy 
International Airport, and via a tender process, ADC was eventually selected as the contractor to carry out the 
project.  Id., paras 94, 108 . Under the commercial agreements between ADC and Hungary for the project, the 
parties agreed that ATAA would gain an ownership interest in the project company that ADC set up for the project. 
ADC agreed to invest over $16 million in the project company that would eventually have the right to operate the 
airport terminals ($11 million of which would be invested on behalf of ATAA), and ATAA agreed to pay ADC back 
in the form of rental payments from the project company.  Id., para 118, 121-22.  After completion of construction 
for the project, the project company stepped into the role of providing management services under the commercial 
agreements between ADC and Hungary.  Id., para 164.  Three years thereafter, Hungary passed a decree that 
restricted ATAA from outsourcing such management to ADC, as a result of which the project company lost its 
operations at the airport and certain of the commercial agreements were rendered void, and the project company was 
required to vacate its offices at the airport within three business days of receiving notice.  Id., para 179-188.  After 
the decree, ADC also ceased to be paid the effective reimbursement of its over $11 million investment pursuant to 
the commercial agreements.  Id., para 190.  ADC and the project company successfully argued that their investments 
had been expropriated without due process. Id., para 476. 
287 Id., paras 434-40. 



169. Here, Claimants first learned of Respondent’s actions via email on or about August 7, 

2015.288  At that time, Claimants were led to believe that there was only a partial – and 

temporary – shutdown of SAMIR’s operations; there was no formal or direct notification 

whatsoever of the true nature of the Government’s actions taken against SAMIR and 

Claimants’ Investments.  Moreover, under the pretext of recovering SAMIR’s allegedly 

unpaid taxes, the Government froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, seized the assets of 

SAMIR’s refinery (which included Claimants’ Commodities), forced the sale of 

Claimants’ Commodities (without their consent), and swept SAMIR’s bank accounts 

(which included the proceeds resulting from the non-consented sales of Claimants’ 

Commodities).  No Government-distributed announcement or individualized notification 

articulating the fact of, or explanation for, the actions was ever given to Claimants. 

170. Like the claimants in ADC, who only received notice of the expropriating decree after it 

had already been issued and three business days before they were forced to vacate, 

Claimants were never given any opportunity to object to such actions prior to their 

occurrence.  Indeed, Claimants here were treated even worse than the claimants in ADC, 

who at least received post-hoc notice from the government, since Claimants never 

received any notice from the Government of its actions, either before or after such 

actions. Instead, for months thereafter, having no other legal recourse for Respondent’s 

expropriation, Claimants awaited a purported resolution that they understood would be 

reached between Respondent and SAMIR.289  At no point were Claimants accorded due 

process of law, whether by means of a hearing or any other opportunity to be heard.  

Indeed, when Claimants finally learned of the Moroccan Customs Office’s “third party 

holder notification procedure” months after its inception and proactively sought to 

intervene to suspend the procedure (among other things), Claimants’ request was 

unceremoniously denied on baseless grounds.290  On that basis alone, Respondent’s 

expropriation should be deemed unlawful under the FTA. 

171. In sum, because Respondent ordered the disposal of Claimants’ Commodities and 

eviscerated Claimants’ contractual Put Rights for no discernible public purpose and 

288 Olivo Statement, para 24. 
289 Id., paras 25-28, 31, 37, 39, 42-43, 46. 
290 See supra, para 48. 



without compensation for Respondent’s taking or any mechanism of due process, 

Respondent should be held liable for its breach of Article 10.6.1 of the FTA. 

VI. CLAIMANTS SUSTAINED SUBSTANTIAL DAMAGES AS A RESULT OF 
RESPONDENT’S BREACHES OF THE FTA 

A. Due to its Breaches of the FTA, the Kingdom of Morocco Has the Legal 
Obligation to Compensate Claimants for their Losses 

172. Having established Respondent’s liability for the above breaches of the FTA, Respondent 

should now be compelled to make full reparation for the damages caused to Claimants by 

the illegal conduct. As explained in the Walck Report, as of the date of this submission, 

Claimants suffered US$500,693,284 in total losses due to Respondent’s breach of the 

FTA. In this section, Claimants explain the standard of reparation under international law 

and the FTA. In the subsequent section, Claimants set forth the details regarding the 

calculation of Claimants’ damages based on the Walck Report. 

173. The full reparation damages standard under international law was first established by the 

Permanent Court of International Justice (PCIJ) in the Case Concerning the Factory at 

Chorzów in 1928. There, the PCIJ found: 

…[R]eparation must, as far as possible, wipe out all the consequences of the 
illegal act and reestablish the situation which would, in all probability, have 
existed if that act had not been committed. 291 

174. This standard has since been codified in Article 31 of the International Law 

Commission’s Articles on the Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts 

(the “ILC Articles”), which reads: 

1. The responsible State is under an obligation to make full reparation for the 
injury caused by the internationally wrongful act. 

2. Injury includes any damage, whether material or moral, caused by the 
internationally wrongful act of a State.292 

291 Case Concerning the Factory at Chorzów (Germany v Poland) (Merits) (“Chorzów II”) 1928 PCIJ, Ser A, No 
17, p 47 (CL-0040-ENG). 
292 Draft articles on Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts, with commentaries (International 
Law Commission 2001) art 31 (CL-0041-ENG).  



175. In addition, numerous international tribunals have applied this standard to award damages 

under investment treaties.293 

176. According to the ILC Articles, full reparation may take several forms, including 

restitution, compensation and satisfaction. Articles 34 and 36 state as follows in this 

regard: 

Article 34 Forms of reparation 
Full reparation for the injury caused by the internationally wrongful act 
shall take the form of restitution, compensation and satisfaction, either 
singly or in combination, in accordance with the provisions of this chapter. 

… 

Article 36. Compensation 
1. The State responsible for an internationally wrongful act is under an 
obligation to compensate for the damage caused thereby, insofar as such 
damage is not made good by restitution. 

2. The compensation shall cover any financially assessable damage 
including loss of profits insofar as it is established.294 

177. As the above Articles reflect, when restitution is not available, as is the case here, 

compensation may be used to fully repair the damages caused by an international illegal 

act by a State.  Per Article 36(1) of the ILC Articles, as noted, compensation 

encompasses both the loss suffered (damnum emergens) and lost profits (lucrum 

cessans). 

293 See, e.g., Sempra Energy International v. Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/02/16, Award (28 Sept. 
2007) para 400 (finding that “[t]he principles governing compensation under international law were well explained 
by the Permanent Court of International Justice in [Chorzów II] and have been developed in numerous decisions of 
international courts and tribunals. As the Permanent Court held in that case, ‘reparation must, as far as possible, 
wipe out all the consequences of the illegal act and re-establish the situation which would, in all probability, have 
existed if that act had not been committed.’”) (CL-0042-ENG); Gold Reserve (n 202) para 681 (stating “[t]his 
Tribunal is empowered to award monetary compensation in accordance with the principles of international law. The 
relevant principles of international law applicable in this situation are derived from the judgment of the Permanent 
Court of International Justice in [Chorzów II] case that reparation should wipe -out the consequences of the breach 
and reestablish the situation as it is likely to have been absent the breach.”) (CL-0025-ENG); Crystallex 
International Corp. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, ICSID Case No. ARB(AF)/11/2, Award (4 April 2016) 
paras 846-848 (applying the Chorzów II principle of full reparation as the standard of compensation for breaches of 
the fair and equitable treatment and expropriation provisions of the bilateral investment treaty between Canada and 
Venezuela) (CL-0043-ENG). 
294 See ILC Draft articles (n 292) arts 34, 36 (emphasis added) (CL-0041-ENG). 



178. The international standard of compensation must complement any compensation rules 

found in the underlying investment treaty.295  In this case, Article 10.6 of the FTA (on 

expropriation) describes the specific features of the compensation that is due to a foreign 

investor in the case of expropriation: 

2. The compensation referred to in paragraph 1(c) [compensation in the case of 
expropriation] shall: 

(a) be paid without delay; 

(b) be equivalent to the fair market value of the expropriated investment 
immediately before the expropriation took place (“the date of 
expropriation”); 

(c) not reflect any change in value occurring because the intended 
expropriation had become known earlier; and 

(d) be fully realizable and freely transferable. 

3. If the fair market value is denominated in a freely usable currency, the 
compensation referred to in paragraph 1(c) shall be no less than the fair market 
value on the date of expropriation, plus interest at a commercially reasonable rate 
for that currency, accrued from the date of expropriation until the date of 
payment. 

4. If the fair market value is denominated in a currency that is not freely usable, 
the compensation referred to in paragraph 1(c) – converted into the currency of 
payment at the market rate of exchange prevailing on the date of payment – shall 
be no less than: 

(a) the fair market value on the date of expropriation, converted into a 
freely usable currency at the market rate of exchange prevailing on that 
date, plus 

(b) interest, at a commercially reasonable rate for that freely usable 
currency, accrued from the date of expropriation until the date of payment. 

179. In sum, compensation that is compliant with Article 10.6 of the FTA must include “the 

fair market value of the expropriated investment on the date of expropriation” plus 

295 See CME Czech Republic B.V. v. Czech Republic, UNCITRAL, Partial Award (13 September 2001) para 615. 
(finding that “[t]he Respondent’s obligation to remedy the injury the Claimant suffered as a result of Respondent’s 
violations of the Treaty derives from [the expropriation provision] of the Treaty and from the rules of international 
law.”) (CL-0044-ENG). 



“interest at a commercially reasonable rate . . . , accrued from the date of expropriation 

until the date of payment.” 

180. For purposes of Article 10.6.2(b) of the FTA, “the date of the expropriation” is August 7, 

2015, or the date on which the Government seized the refinery and froze SAMIR’s bank 

accounts. According to the above principles, Claimants have calculated their damages as 

set forth in the following section. 296 

B. Claimants’ Losses as a Result of Respondent’s Breaches 

181. As detailed above in Sections IV and V, Respondent’s seizure of the assets in SAMIR’s 

refinery and subsequent freezing of its bank accounts prevented Claimants from 

exercising their contractual Put Right per the Investment Contracts.  In addition, 

Claimants were unable to recover their Commodities in storage at SAMIR, because the 

Respondent directed SAMIR to dispose of Claimants’ Commodities into the Moroccan 

market and instructed local Moroccan distributors to pay Respondent directly for those 

Commodities.  As a direct result of the Respondent’s actions, Claimants’ then-existing 

investments, both in physical Commodities and in contractual rights, were rendered 

valueless. 

182. Claimants have engaged the services of Mr. Richard E. Walck, a partner and co-founder 

of Global Financial Analytics LLC, to quantify their losses as a result of Respondent’s 

actions in connection with the Investments.  Mr. Walck has analyzed each one of the 

Transactions to determine the respective losses.297 Out of the sixteen transactions at issue 

296 In the absence of specific language in the FTA, the principle of full reparation requires the Tribunal to 
incorporate the two violations (i.e., fair and equitable treatment and expropriation) into the same damages model and 
calculate the value of the investment as if none of the violations had been committed. See SAUR International S.A. v. 
Argentine Republic, ICSID Case No. ARB/04/4, Sentence (22 May 2014) paras 165-166 (stating «[l]e principe de 
réparation intégrale requiert que le Tribunal intègre les deux violations dans un même modèle et qu’il calcule la 
valeur d’OSM au moment où s’est produite la première [violation] en admettant le postulat qu’aucune des violations 
suivantes n’auraient été commises. Cette manière de procéder est conforme aux dispositions de l’APRI, qui établit 
dans son article 5 que les mesures d’expropriation donnent lieu à une indemnisation dont le montant doit être 
«calculé sur la valeur réelle des investissements concernés» et «évalué par rapport à une situation  économique  
normale et antérieure à toute menace de dépossession.»») (CL-0045-FR). 
297 See Section V of the Walck Report. 









188. As observed by the tribunal in Hrvatska v. Slovenia: 

The purpose of interest is to ‘compensate the injured party for not having 
had the use of the money between the date when it ought to have been 
paid and the date of the payment.’ It is therefore appropriate that the rate 
of interest represents a reasonable and fair rate that approximates the 
return the injured party might have earned if it had had the use of its 
money over the full period of time… The purpose of interest is therefore 
not just to compensate for the time value of money. Interest must also 
compensate for the loss of opportunity associated with the use of that 
money. This approach accords with the [Chorzów II] principles of making 
the injured party whole and wiping out the consequences of the breach.307  

189. Since interest has the purpose of compensating the injured party for both the time value 

of money and the loss of opportunity associated with the use of that money, the rate used 

is determined on a case-by-case basis. 

190. In this case, Carlyle’s Put Right was based on an interest rate of 3-month LIBOR plus a 

premium of 4.75%, as initially agreed by the parties.308 The Put Right continued to 

accrue interest at that rate until the exercise of the Put Right by Carlyle.309  Therefore, 

this rate is a commercially reasonable rate to bring Carlyle’s damages forward from the 

August 7, 2015 takeover of SAMIR to the date of this submission, and was the rate used 

by Mr. Walck.310 This rate also fully compensates Carlyle for the loss of opportunity in 

connection with the use of the money owed by Respondent since Carlyle’s intended use 

of the proceeds was reinvestment in similar transactions with SAMIR. 

191. Finally, Mr. Walck used quarterly compounding, so that the compounding period and the 

interest rate period would match.311 Thus, the interest calculated by Mr. Walck according 

that result. 2. Interest runs from the date when the principal sum should have been paid until the date the obligation 
to pay is fulfilled.” (CL-0041-ENG). 
307 Hrvatska Elektroprivreda D.D. v. Republic of Slovenia, ICSID Case No. ARB/05/24, Award (17 December 
2015) para 547. (emphasis added, citations omitted) (CL-0047-ENG). 
308 Walck Report, para 83. See also Summary of Terms and Conditions for Crude Oil Purchase and Sale 
Transaction(s), December 16, 2014. (RW-0056; MO-0006). 
309 Id. 
310 Walck Report, para 83.  
311 Id., para 84. Compound interest is necessary in this case to achieve full reparation. See Quiborax S.A. and Non 
Metallic Minerals S.A. v. Plurinational State of Bolivia, ICSID Case No. ARB/06/2, Award (16 September 2015) 
para 523 (stating: “[t]he applicable standard of compensation under customary international law is full reparation. 
Compound interest, which has become the standard to remunerate the use of money in modern finance, comes closer 
to achieving this purpose than simple interest. Indeed, being deprived of the use of the money to which it was 



to the above adds $109,543,756 to Carlyle’s damages, bringing its total damage claim to 

US$500,693,284. This is the amount that Respondent is required to pay Carlyle in order 

to “wipe out all the consequences of [its] illegal act . . . .”312 

VII. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

192. For all of the reasons set forth in the above Memorial, Claimants respectfully request an 

award in their favor: 

• Finding that Respondent has breached its obligations under the FTA; 

• Directing Respondent to pay damages to Claimants in the amount of $500,693,284, as 
set forth above; 

• Directing Respondent to pay interest and Claimants’ share of taxes on all sums 
awarded; and 

• Directing Respondent to pay Claimants’ costs associated with these proceedings, 
including professional fees and disbursement. 

193. Claimants also request that the Tribunal order any other and further relief that it deems 

available and appropriate in the circumstances. 

 

 

entitled, a creditor may have to borrow funds or may forego investments, for which it would pay or earn compound 
interest.”) (emphasis added) (CL-0048-ENG). 
312 Chorzów II, p 47 (CL-0040-ENG). 



    

  

  
   
    

   
     

 
 

 
   


	I. Introduction
	1. This arbitration concerns the loss of hundreds of millions of dollars (US) in investments made by Carlyle Commodity Management L.L.C. and certain related entities (collectively, “Carlyle” or “Claimants”) in the Kingdom of Morocco (“Morocco”), as a ...
	2. Beginning in February 2015, Carlyle and SAMIR engaged in a series of investment transactions (collectively, the “Transactions” or “Investments”) whereby Carlyle purchased and took title to oil and refined products (collectively, “Commodities”) that...
	3. Carlyle’s Investments proceeded largely according to plan until August 2015, when the Government froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, seized control of refinery operations, directed SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s Commodities into the open market, prevented Carlyl...
	4. Throughout the fall of 2015, SAMIR repeatedly attempted to negotiate with the Government to unfreeze its bank accounts so that it could make payments to Carlyle.  For example, SAMIR’s majority shareholder and Saudi billionaire, Sheikh Mohamed Husse...
	5. Due to the Government’s wrongful interference in the business and operations of SAMIR, Carlyle, to this day, has not been compensated by the Government for the hundreds of millions of U.S. dollars’ worth of Commodities that comprised the Investment...
	6. Carlyle submits with this Memorial the witness statements of: 1) George R. Salem, who served as a director and board member of SAMIR from 1997 to 2016; 2) Matthew Olivo, who served as Director of Structured Investments of Carlyle Commodity Manageme...
	7. Carlyle also submits with this Memorial the expert witness reports of: 1) Richard E. Walck CPA/ABV/CFF/CGMA, CMA, CFM, a partner and co-founder of Global Financial Analytics LLC; and 2) Steven D. Graybill, president and co-founder of Downstream Adv...
	8. Finally, Carlyle submits with this Memorial Exhibits 1-13 and Authorities 1-48.
	9. In this Memorial, Carlyle first describes the parties to the arbitration (Section II). Next, Carlyle explains that Carlyle is a protected investor with protected investments under the terms of the FTA and ICSID Convention and that the arbitral trib...

	II. The Parties
	A. The Claimants
	10. The Claimants are The Carlyle Group L.P., Carlyle Investment Management L.L.C. (“CIM”), CCM, TC Group, L.L.C., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., Celadon Commodities Fund, LP, and Celadon Partners, LLC.  All of the Claimants are entities incorpor...
	11. As explained above, Claimants made their first investment in Morocco in February 2015 through their initial Transaction with SAMIR. After an initially positive experience with SAMIR and numerous successful Transactions, Claimants continued to ente...

	B. The Respondent
	12. The Respondent is the Kingdom of Morocco, represented in this matter by the Government of Morocco. The Government has acted or failed to act in connection with the events giving rise to this arbitration, including through the following agencies an...


	III. The Tribunal has Jurisdiction Over These Claims Under both the FTA and the ICSID Convention
	13. Under Article 10 of the FTA, an arbitral tribunal has jurisdiction over a claim that the respondent has breached one or more obligations of Article 10, Section A, which concern “measures adopted or maintained by a Party relating to . . . (a) inves...
	14. For the reasons discussed herein, the claims set forth by Claimants in their Request for Arbitration (“RFA”) meet all of the jurisdictional requirements of both the FTA and the ICSID Convention.7F
	A. Claimants Are Investors Under the FTA and the ICSID Convention
	15. Article 10, Schedule C of the FTA defines an “investor of a Party” to mean “a Party or state enterprise thereof, or a national or an enterprise of a Party, that concretely attempts to make, is making, or has made an investment in the territory of ...
	16. Because all of the Claimants are enterprises organized under the laws of the State of Delaware in the United States, and the United States is a Party to the FTA, each Claimant is an “enterprise of a Party” subject to the protections of Article 10 ...
	17. In addition, both the United States and Respondent are contracting states to the ICSID Convention.10F  Claimants also comply with Article 25(2)(b) of the ICSID Convention because they are “National(s) of another Contracting State.”11F  Specificall...

	B. Claimants’ Commodities and Contractual Put Rights Constitute Investments under the FTA
	18. Article 10 of the FTA applies “with respect to a Party, [to] an investment (as defined in Article 10.27 (Investment – Definitions)) in its territory of an investor of the other Party in existence on the date of entry into force of this Agreement o...
	19. Claimants “own or controlled directly or indirectly” the investments in Morocco. As explained in Section II.A. above, a number of Claimants, namely TC Group, L.L.C., TC Group Investment Holdings, L.P., Celadon Partners, LLC, and Celadon Commoditie...
	20. Additionally, in accordance with the Investment Agreements, Claimants retained exclusive ownership of and title to the Commodities that were the subject of the agreements unless and until Claimants expressly agreed to sell Claimants’ Commodities t...
	21. Specifically, the MCTA expressly provides, among other things, that Claimants are “the owner[s] of Commodities . . . unless and until such time as the Commodities are sold to [SAMIR] pursuant to section 3(d) [of the MCTA].” See MCTA § 9 (MO-0003)....
	22. Claimants’ investments in Morocco also complied with all of the remaining characteristics of a protected investment under Article 10.27 of the FTA because they required Claimants to:
	23. International investment tribunals have repeatedly and consistently found property and contractual rights such as those enjoyed by Claimants under the Investment Agreements – wherein claimants sold commodities to a local entity over a period of ti...
	24. Article 10.27 of the FTA also lists various examples of qualifying “investments,” such as “(a) an enterprise; (b) shares, stock, and other forms of equity participation in an enterprise; (c) bonds, debentures, other debt instruments, and loans; (d...
	25. As stated above, between February and August 2015, Claimants and SAMIR entered into twenty-six Transactions – sixteen of which remain open and unpaid. These sixteen transactions involved, among other things, the storage of the Commodities in tanks...
	26. The strike price of Claimants’ Put Right (i.e., the price at which the put could be exercised) was derived from several elements, including the purchase price of the Commodities in the individual transaction confirmation, a transaction premium, an...
	27. Therefore, Claimants’ “Investments” in Morocco consisted of the following:
	28. Finally, all of Claimants’ Investments were made in 2015, well after the entry into force of the FTA.  Therefore, Claimants’ Investments pursuant to the Investment Agreements are “investments” within the meaning of Article 10 of the FTA.

	C. Claimants’ Dispute Meets the Requirements of the ICSID Convention
	29. In addition, Claimants also meet the jurisdictional requirements of Article 25(1) of the ICSID Convention, according to which “[t]he jurisdiction of the Centre shall extend to any legal dispute arising directly out of an investment, between a Cont...
	30. Claimants’ dispute is “legal” in nature because (i) it concerns the breach of an obligation by Morocco created by a normative instrument (the FTA); and (ii) Claimants are requesting compensation for damages suffered as a consequence of such breach...
	31. The dispute at issue in this arbitration also “[arises] directly out of” an investment as required by Article 25 of the ICSID Convention.28F  Investment tribunals have found that this phrase should not be interpreted restrictively.29F  It has also...
	32. In sum, the Fedax tribunal found that the promissory notes were a loan and that loans were specifically covered in the definition of investment under the relevant treaty.34F  Therefore, the dispute in Fedax met the requirements of Article 25 of th...

	D. The Claims Are Timely
	33. As detailed above, Respondent’s wrongful conduct occurred beginning in August 2015 and during part of 2016, and Claimants learned of such conduct only after August 7, 2015. Claimants filed their request for arbitration on July 31, 2018. Accordingl...


	IV. Statement of Facts
	A. Prior to Entering Into the SAMIR Investments, Carlyle Performed Due Diligence on SAMIR and Thoroughly Investigated the Commercial Conditions in Morocco
	34. Carlyle began contemplating the Transactions with SAMIR in October 2014.38F   Prior to entering into the Investments, Carlyle conducted diligence of SAMIR and thoroughly investigated the business climate in Morocco – including engaging in consulta...

	B. The Government Understood and Approved of the Investments
	35. In December 2014, prior to signing the Investment Agreements, SAMIR informed Carlyle that the parties were required to obtain authorization from the Government in order to engage in the Investments.43F   Due to Morocco’s currency control restricti...
	36. In December 2014 and January 2015, SAMIR’s representatives met in person and exchanged correspondence with representatives of the Foreign Exchange Office regarding the proposed Investments with Carlyle.45F   SAMIR explained to the Foreign Exchange...
	37. On January 16, 2015, Carlyle learned from Youssef Nadifi, a senior member of the SAMIR finance team, that the Foreign Exchange Office had granted approval of SAMIR’s entry into the Investments with Carlyle.48F   In a letter affirming approval of t...
	38. After receiving the general approval from the Foreign Exchange Office to enter into the Investments, SAMIR sought and obtained the Foreign Exchange Office’s endorsement prior to entering into each individual Transaction with Carlyle.50F   Prior to...

	C. The Structure of the Carlyle/SAMIR Transactions
	39. As noted previously, the Transactions were governed by the Investment Agreements. The Confirmation for each Transaction specified a purchase date on which Carlyle agreed to commit capital by posting an irrevocable letter of credit in favor of a co...
	40. SAMIR stored the Commodities in its tanks for a period of time specified in each Confirmation as the exercise period, during which time title to the Commodities remained with Carlyle.53F   During the exercise period, SAMIR could not use, remove, s...
	41. At any time during the exercise period, Carlyle had the ability, but not an obligation, to exercise a Put Right to sell the Commodities back to SAMIR at a fixed purchase price set forth in the Confirmation.55F   The Investment Agreements contempla...
	42. After SAMIR received notice that Carlyle was executing its Put Right, SAMIR signed a closeout confirmation, which contained the final value of the purchase price and the transaction premium.57F   The Investment Agreements contemplated that SAMIR w...

	D. From February 2015 to August 2015, the Carlyle/SAMIR Transactions Proceeded Largely According to Plan
	43. Beginning in March 2015, SAMIR sent Carlyle regular reports reflecting the volume of inventory stored at the refinery, including the Commodities owned by Carlyle.59F   During the early course of their dealings, SAMIR made payments to Carlyle to op...
	44. In April 2015, SAMIR invited Carlyle to increase the volume of the Investments.63F   On June 15, 2015 after reviewing every SAMIR deal to date, Carlyle verified that the value of the inventory at SAMIR was greater than the value of Commodities own...
	45. Following the parties’ commitment to increase the Investment volume and until August 2015, SAMIR continued to make payments to Carlyle in accordance with the Investment Agreements. For example, on July 22, 2015, SAMIR closed out two additional Tra...
	46. Also on August 4, 2015, Carlyle representatives Matthew Olivo, a Director of Structured Investments, and Vishal Suvagiya, a Senior Commodities Structuring Associate, traveled to Morocco for meetings with representatives of SAMIR.70F   At those mee...
	47. Notably, at no time during this February 2015 to August 2015 period was Carlyle ever notified by the Government that the Transactions would not be honored.74F

	E. In August 2015, the Moroccan Government Seized SAMIR’s Assets and Froze SAMIR’s Bank Accounts Forcing SAMIR to Shut Down Operations
	48. In August 2015, the status of Carlyle’s Investments changed dramatically as a result of the Government’s actions. On August 7, 2015, the Government froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, refused to allow ships to unload crude oil at the refinery, and instal...
	49. SAMIR had informed Carlyle in early August that the refinery would be shutting down some of its refining units temporarily.80F  However, Carlyle later learned from a news article published by Reuters on August 13, that on August 7, 2015, assets pu...
	50. When Carlyle reached out to SAMIR to verify the information reported in the Reuters article, SAMIR’s representatives responded that they believed SAMIR was current in its tax payments and did not owe any overdue amounts to the Government.83F   SAM...
	51. In late August 2015, Ahmed Harnouch, SAMIR’s CFO, reported that SAMIR had around 2 billion MAD (a little over US$200 million) of receivables in its accounts from recent sales of refined products, waiting to be paid to Carlyle once the Government u...

	F. In the Fall of 2015, SAMIR and the Government Failed to Resolve Their Dispute Despite Repeated Efforts by SAMIR
	52. In early September 2015, Mr. Zuech and Mr. Olivo traveled to Morocco to meet with SAMIR board members Jamal Ba-Amer, who was also SAMIR’s CEO and General Manager, and Bassam Aburdene.89F   The board members confirmed that SAMIR had over $200 milli...
	i. SAMIR’s Board Approved a Recapitalization Plan Designed to Satisfy SAMIR’s Obligations to Carlyle and the Government

	53. Shortly after meeting with SAMIR, Carlyle learned that SAMIR’s board had approved a broad recapitalization plan that was aimed at putting the company in a strong financial position moving forward and structured to satisfy SAMIR’s obligations to Ca...
	54. SAMIR held another board meeting on October 16, 2015 at which Sheikh Al-Amoudi formally voted for the capital increase of up to $1 billion.94F   That same day, SAMIR issued a press release confirming Sheikh Al-Amoudi’s intention to inject approxim...
	ii. SAMIR Acknowledged that it Owed Money to Carlyle, But Could Not Pay Carlyle Because the Funds Owed to Carlyle Were in Accounts Frozen by the Government

	55. On September 14, Mr. Olivo and Mr. Zuech traveled to Morocco again to meet directly with SAMIR representatives.96F   While in Morocco, Carlyle representatives met with Jamal Ba-Amer, SAMIR’s CEO and General Manager, Ahmed Harnouch, SAMIR’s CFO, an...
	56. Mr. Ba-Amer replied to Carlyle’s letter on September 21, 2015.101F   In his letter, Mr. Ba-Amer acknowledged that “SAMIR ha[d] sold Disposed Commodities in order to pay [Carlyle] in the normal course of business.”102F   Mr. Ba-Amer explained that ...
	57. Then, in late September 2015, Carlyle negotiated a Forbearance Agreement with SAMIR, which the parties signed on October 1, 2015.107F   Under the terms of the Forbearance Agreement, Carlyle agreed to refrain from taking immediate legal action agai...
	iii. Despite SAMIR’s Good-Faith Attempts to Negotiate with the Government, the Government Refused to Reach a Resolution with SAMIR

	58. Carlyle was informed by numerous sources that the Government was unwilling to negotiate in good faith with SAMIR because high-ranking Government officials wanted to oust Sheikh Al-Amoudi from ownership of the refinery by forcing SAMIR into bankrup...
	59. It was also reported that one of the Government ministers involved in negotiating the approval of SAMIR’s capital plan, Aziz Akhanouch, the Moroccan Minister of Agriculture, had a personal interest in and business motive for shutting down the SAMI...
	60. Sheikh Al-Amoudi, himself, “accused the Moroccan Government of being more concerned about debt payments than about saving Samir from bankruptcy” and promised to personally “write a letter to King Mohamed VI to request his intervention in the matte...
	61. Throughout October and November 2015, SAMIR continued to pursue a deal with the Government.120F   On or around November 4, 2015, for example, Sheikh Al-Amoudi wrote “a letter to the relevant Moroccan Government officials requesting a meeting to re...
	62. After months of failed negotiations, on November 24, 2015, Mr. Jouahri reported that Sheikh Al-Amoudi had finally been granted a meeting with the Government to be held imminently.122F   However, Carlyle learned from Mr. Ba-Amer and Mr. Salem that ...
	63. Despite the frustrating setbacks in negotiations with the Government, SAMIR continued making efforts aimed at paying Carlyle.  On November 18, 2015, Mr. Salem reiterated that SAMIR would support a request by Carlyle to the Government seeking the i...
	64. On November 23, 2015, SAMIR filed a petition in Casablanca Commercial Court seeking an amicable settlement with the Government.128F   The petition stated that although SAMIR “ha[d] paid all its taxes on the periods agreed upon” and met all of its ...
	iv. In the Fall and Winter of 2015, the Government Directed SAMIR to Sell Carlyle’s Commodities and Swept the Proceeds from SAMIR’s Frozen Accounts

	65. Beginning in the fall and winter of 2015, the Government directed SAMIR to continue supplying the domestic market with refined products, even though the refinery was shut down.131F  Included in those products were Commodities owned by Carlyle.132F...
	66. In an email dated December 11, 2015, Mr. Ba-Amer explained that in the months following the Government’s freezing of SAMIR’s accounts, “supplying the country” with refined products appeared to have become a “strategic” issue for the Government.134...
	v. At Meetings with Carlyle’s Representatives, the Government Acknowledged that Funds Belonging to Carlyle were Frozen in SAMIR’s Accounts and that Carlyle Owned Commodities in SAMIR’s Tanks

	67. During the week of December 14, 2015, Carlyle representatives, including Mr. Olivo and Mr. Zuech, traveled to Morocco.137F   While there, the Carlyle representatives met with Mohamed Boussaid, the Moroccan Minister of Economy and Finance, Dwight L...
	68. At Carlyle’s meeting with Mr. Boussaid, the Minister never denied that the frozen funds in SAMIR’s bank accounts belonged to Carlyle, and assured Carlyle that the Government would release the funds as soon as the issues between SAMIR and the Gover...
	69. On December 16, 2015, Intertek, an inspection company retained by Carlyle, produced an independent report of the oil and refined products remaining in SAMIR’s tanks.141F   Intertek’s report showed that SAMIR’s tanks held significantly more oil and...
	70. On December 21, 2015, SAMIR provided financial information to Carlyle showing that SAMIR had approximately $307 million of funds in its frozen accounts.143F   As with the level of oil and refined products, the amount of receivables owed to SAMIR a...
	71. Given the circumstances, Carlyle came to believe that the Government was intentionally understating SAMIR’s inventory and level of funds to make it appear that SAMIR was insolvent, so that it could push the refinery into bankruptcy and force Sheik...
	vi. Carlyle Repeatedly Sought to Secure the Release of its Funds from the Government’s Control

	72. Following up on the earlier meeting, on December 21, 2015, Mr. Zuech sent a letter to Mr. Boussaid reiterating that “Carlyle-owned crude oil and refined products and cash proceeds arising from the sales of such products . . . have been improperly ...
	73. In mid- to late December 2015, Carlyle further sought to persuade the Government to authorize the release of funds from SAMIR’s frozen accounts for an immediate cash payment to Carlyle before the end of the year by sending a letter to the United S...
	74. Carlyle also sent a letter to SAMIR’s board of directors, directly urging them to help secure payment to Carlyle by year-end.153F   On December 28, 2015, Mr. Ba-Amer responded to Carlyle’s letter on behalf of the SAMIR board of directors.154F   He...
	75. Carlyle also sought payment from certain distributors to whom SAMIR had sold Carlyle’s Commodities.157F   On December 30, 2015, Carlyle sent letters to the distributors, advising that the Commodities were the exclusive property of Carlyle, and tha...

	G. In January 2016, Carlyle Learned that SAMIR Would Not be in a Position to Pay Carlyle for its Commodities Due to the Government’s Actions
	76. On January 10, 2016, Mr. Zuech and Mr. Suvagiya traveled to Morocco to meet with Mr. Ba-Amer and Hicham Es Semmar, SAMIR’s Finance and Treasury Manager.160F   While at SAMIR, the Carlyle representatives reviewed SAMIR’s accounts receivable balance...
	77. During Carlyle’s conversations with Mr. Ba-Amer on this trip, Mr. Ba-Amer reiterated that the Government was preventing SAMIR from releasing the funds belonging to Carlyle and was continuing to force SAMIR to make sales of refined products to the ...

	H. Carlyle Still Has Not Been Paid by the Government for the Commodities that SAMIR Disposed of at the Direction of the Government
	78. Unable to pay its creditors or Carlyle, SAMIR was forced into liquidation by the Casablanca Commercial Court in March 2016.166F   At the public hearing before the Court on March 21, 2016, SAMIR requested that the Court approve its proposal for an ...
	79. SAMIR informed the Court that it had sought a resolution with the Government and its other creditors.169F   SAMIR asserted that it had proposed a substantial capital increase to fund restarting the refinery and begin to repay its debts to the Gove...

	I. After SAMIR was Forced into Liquidation, the Government Blocked All Outside Bids to Purchase the Refinery
	80. After SAMIR was forced into liquidation, the Court appointed an independent trustee (subsequently replaced by another appointed trustee) to assume control of the refinery and begin soliciting bids for SAMIR’s assets.174F  By February 2017, the Gov...
	81. The media reported that very few of the companies interested in buying SAMIR had developed written proposals, mainly due to the Government’s unreasonably restrictive demand that prospective purchasers of the SAMIR facility secure “deposits issued ...

	J. SAMIR Claims that its Insolvency was Caused by the Government’s Actions
	82. On April 12, 2019, Sheikh Al-Amoudi and his holding company, Corral Petroleum Holdings AB, filed a complaint against the Government to be resolved under the ICSID Convention.180F   Among other charges, the claimants in that proceeding allege that ...


	V. Respondent Breached Its Obligations Under the FTA
	83. Based on the facts discussed above and as further demonstrated below, Respondent’s wrongful actions clearly violated the FTA. These unlawful actions rendered Claimants’ Investments valueless and deprived Claimants of returns to which they were ent...
	A. Respondent Breached its Article 10.5.1 Obligation to Accord Claimants’ Investments Fair and Equitable Treatment
	84. Under Article 10.5.1 of the FTA, Respondent is required to “accord to covered investments treatment in accordance with customary international law, including fair and equitable treatment . . . .”183F   Respondent, however, blatantly breached this ...
	85. While the phrase “fair and equitable treatment” (“FET”) is not separately defined in the FTA, Article 10.5.2 of the FTA makes clear that the concept encompasses the “minimum standard of treatment of aliens.”184F   Under international law, this mea...
	86. The preamble to the FTA also provides that the agreement and its provisions (including the guarantee of FET to covered investments) are intended to reflect the Parties’ “[d]esir[e] to establish clear rules governing [the Parties’] trade and invest...
	87. Although, beyond the FTA’s text, the determination of a FET violation is typically considered a fact-specific inquiry,187F  there is a consensus among scholars and investment tribunals that FET is generally intended to “protect investors against s...
	88. Arbitrary conduct that violates FET includes: (1) any measure that is taken in willful disregard of due process and procedure; (2) any measure that is not based on objective legal standards but on discretion, prejudice, or personal preference; (3)...
	89. Tribunals also routinely find a FET violation where the host government frustrates or thwarts an investor’s legitimate expectations with respect to its investment.  The standard set forth in Tecmed v. Mexico, a case in which the host government ar...
	90. It is further agreed that the host government’s conduct does not need to be egregious or shocking to rise to the level of a FET violation.193F  Indeed, investment tribunals have noted instead that it is possible for the State to violate FET “witho...
	91. In sum, in order to comply with the obligation to accord FET under the FTA, Respondent is required, among other things, to uphold and not frustrate Claimants’ legitimate expectations, to act transparently, not arbitrarily, and in good faith with r...
	92. By freezing SAMIR’s bank accounts, seizing SAMIR’s assets, directing SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s Commodities into the Moroccan market, sweeping from SAMIR’s accounts the proceeds from the unauthorized sales of Carlyle’s Commodities, and instructing lo...
	i. Respondent Usurped Claimants’ Legitimate Expectations

	93. First, Respondent breached its FET obligation under the FTA by usurping Claimants’ legitimate expectations that their Investments would proceed in accordance with the terms of the various Investment Agreements.
	94. Since Tecmed, upholding the legitimate expectations of the investor and a stable legal and business environment have been considered “central” and “essential” to the definition of FET.196F   This concept is centered in the belief that the investor...
	95. As stated in Suez v. Argentine Republic:
	96. If a FET obligation exists, an investor’s legitimate expectations with respect to its investments in a host country are thus required to be honored by the host government because the investor acts in reliance on the host government’s explicit and ...
	97. For example, in Micula, Romania instituted a special regulatory regime for disfavored regions of the country that created the legitimate expectation that certain tax exemptions and other incentives would remain in place during the entire ten-year ...
	98. As another example, in Gold Reserve v. Venezuela, the claimant argued that, after it was granted certain permits to engage in mining activities, Venezuela reinforced the belief and expectation that claimant’s mining activities were compliant with ...
	99. A breach of the FET obligation was also found in Masdar Solar & Wind Cooperatief v. Spain, where the claimant, seeking to invest in renewable energy and sustainable technology internationally, undertook substantial due diligence of Spain’s solar t...
	100. As in the foregoing cases, Respondent breached its FET obligation by failing to uphold Claimants’ legitimate expectations. Specifically, Claimants had every reason to expect that Respondent would treat Claimants’ Investments fairly and equitably ...
	101. Similarly, as in Masdar as well as in Micula and Gold Reserve, Claimants’ expectations were then specifically reinforced by the conduct of the Government, which included the absence of any disapproval whatsoever by the Government of any of the in...
	102. Indeed, when the Foreign Exchange Office issued its formal approval of the Transactions on January 16, 2015, it was specifically highlighted that Claimants would have title to the Commodities.211F   Consequently, Claimants were further assured th...
	103. Claimants continued to be assured of Respondent’s awareness and approval of Claimants’ Investments throughout the first seven months of 2015 because, during that time, SAMIR sought approval from the Foreign Exchange Office prior to entering into ...
	104. Significantly, in June 2015, when Claimants and SAMIR sought to increase the volume of the Transactions pursuant to the Investment Agreements, the Foreign Exchange Office should have once again been directly involved in the review and re-approval...
	105. Notwithstanding Respondent’s affirmative acknowledgment of Claimants’ Investments, Claimants’ title to Commodities stored in SAMIR’s tanks, and Claimants’ entitlement to any proceeds from the sales of those Commodities, Respondent indiscriminatel...
	106. Respondent did so even as Claimants repeatedly reminded Respondent that at least a significant portion of the Commodities seized belonged to Claimants.  Significantly, Carlyle representatives traveled to Morocco during the week of December 14, 20...
	107. Following that meeting, Claimants sent a letter on December 21, 2015, to the Minister, emphasizing that Claimants’ Commodities had been improperly removed from SAMIR’s tanks without consent from or payment to Claimants, and imploring the Governme...
	108. The Government never responded to either letter and never relented from its wrongful conduct.  Because Respondent refused to reach a resolution of any type with SAMIR, the Minister’s assurances that Carlyle would be paid upon resolution went unfu...
	109. Through all of the above actions, Respondent unquestionably violated Claimants’ legitimate expectations with respect to their Investments, clearly contradicting the Parties’ stated “desir[e] to . . . foster a predictable and mutually advantageous...
	110. Because Respondent failed to uphold even the basic expectation that it would not directly interfere with and take over Claimants’ Investments, Respondent breached its obligation under the FTA to accord Claimants’ Investments fair and equitable tr...
	ii. Respondent’s Actions Lacked Transparency

	111. Second, Respondent’s actions lacked transparency and breached its “commitment to transparency” obligation under the FTA.
	112. Part and parcel of a foreign investor’s legitimate expectations regarding its investments is a related expectation that, under the applicable investment treaty, the host state will act “totally transparently” vis-à-vis the investor.218F   In othe...
	113. When Respondent suddenly froze SAMIR’s bank accounts, took over the refinery, and began forcing SAMIR to sell Carlyle’s Commodities into the Moroccan market, Claimants had no warning or clear explanation for the Government’s actions, especially a...
	iii. Respondent Took Arbitrary Measures Against Claimants’ Investments

	114. Third, Respondent’s actions were arbitrary, motivated by political desires rather than for any legitimate or legal purpose.  Because arbitrariness as a concept is “in itself contrary to fair and equitable treatment,”222F  Respondent also breached...
	115. The prohibition against arbitrary conduct by a host government that is obligated to accord FET to foreign investments reflects the belief that contracting States to an investment agreement should not implement measures or take any other actions a...
	116. For example, in Lemire v. Ukraine, the tribunal found that Ukraine had acted arbitrarily toward the claimant’s investments in radio broadcasting – and therefore in violation of FET – because Ukraine had (i) made unsubstantiated decisions to deny ...
	117. The tribunal in Deutsche Telekom v. India likewise found a FET violation where India had arbitrarily annulled an agreement between the claimant, a German telecommunications company, and an Indian state-owned company regarding the lease of spectru...
	118. Respondent’s actions here are as arbitrary, if not more arbitrary, than those of Ukraine in Lemire and India in Deutsche Telekom.  Respondent’s seizure of SAMIR’s refinery and forced sale of Claimants’ Commodities happened unexpectedly and withou...
	119. Respondent was fully aware that a significant portion of the commodities that SAMIR was forced to sell in fact belonged to Claimants,234F  and that therefore the sale of such Commodities could not and should not have been effectuated for purposes...
	120. In addition, Claimants heard from various sources that certain highly-ranked Government officials had no interest in allowing SAMIR to continue under Sheikh Al-Amoudi’s ownership.235F   The forced liquidation of SAMIR (rather than the amicable se...
	121. In short, the arbitrariness of Respondent’s actions further support a finding that Respondent breached its FET obligations under the FTA.
	iv. Respondent Acted in Bad Faith With Respect to Claimants’ Investments

	122. Finally, Respondent’s conduct rose to the level of a FET violation because Respondent demonstrated egregious bad faith with respect to Claimants’ Investments.
	123. As explained above, although a showing of the host government’s bad faith is not required to establish a violation of FET, demonstrable bad faith is sufficient for a finding of a FET violation236F  because good faith is “inherent in fair and equi...
	124. As stated in Waste Mgmt., “[a] basic obligation of the State under Article 1105(1) [Minimum Standard of Treatment under NAFTA] is to act in good faith and form, and not deliberately to set out to destroy or frustrate the investment by improper me...
	125. Specific examples of bad faith giving rise to a FET violation might include the host state’s “use of legal instruments for purposes other than those for which they were created[,]” “a conspiracy by state organs to inflict damage upon or to defeat...
	126. Here, Respondent’s “blatant disregard” of Carlyle’s rights under the Investment Agreements, despite SAMIR’s and Carlyle’s numerous reminders that a significant portion of the seized assets belonged to Carlyle, is a clear indication that the Gover...
	127. Again, the Government was fully cognizant of Claimants’ investment arrangement with SAMIR from its inception, and the January 16, 2015 letter from the Foreign Exchange Office even conveyed the Government’s approval of the arrangement, which expre...
	128. As noted above in Section IV, throughout the fall of 2015, Claimants were repeatedly told that SAMIR was in negotiations with the Government and that successful negotiations would lead to reparations to Claimants for their Investment losses. Howe...
	129. As also noted above in Section IV, despite receiving several bids in SAMIR’s bankruptcy proceedings, Respondent (through the Moroccan courts) have continued to impose arbitrary requirements on prospective buyers of SAMIR, conditioning bids not on...
	130. In sum, Respondent’s actions undermined Claimants’ legitimate expectations, lacked transparency, were arbitrary in nature, and demonstrated bad faith with respect to Claimants’ Investments.  Each element is independently sufficient to establish a...

	B. Respondent Breached its Article 10.6 Obligation to Not Expropriate Claimants’ Investments Without Just Compensation
	131. Respondent should also be held liable because its conduct constituted an unlawful expropriation of Claimants’ Investments in violation of Article 10.6 of the FTA.
	132. Article 10.6 of the FTA provides, in relevant part:
	133. These provisions prohibit a host state from expropriating investments protected under the FTA unless all of the enumerated conditions are met.  Yet here, Respondent failed to meet any of the treaty’s requirements, and instead acted to expropriate...
	134. Specifically, the seizure of assets at the SAMIR refinery, which included property belonging to Claimants that SAMIR had taken, and the freezing and sweeping of accounts that included funds belonging to Claimants were expropriating acts for which...
	i. Respondent Expropriated Claimants’ Commodities

	135. While Article 10.6.1 does not define “expropriation,” Annex 10-B of the FTA248F  states that Article 10.6.1 should reflect “customary international law concerning the obligation of States with respect to expropriation[,]” and that “[a]n action or...
	136. Annex 10-B further makes clear that Article 10.6.1 is intended to address both situations of (1) direct expropriation, where an investment is expropriated “through formal transfer of title or outright seizure,” and (2) indirect expropriation, whe...
	137. Under international law, the expropriated property at issue need not be tangible physical assets, but can be contractual rights.251F  Here, Respondent’s conduct constituted both a direct expropriation of Claimants’ Commodities and an indirect exp...
	(a) Direct Expropriation

	138. Both the FTA and investment tribunals make clear that a host state’s “outright seizure” or “forcible taking” of property is sufficient to constitute a direct expropriation and that formal transfer of title to that property to the host state is no...
	139. In Gemplus v. United Mexican States, for example, the claimants made investments in Mexico in and through an investment company. In 1999, a consortium in which the claimants were members successfully tendered for a concession granted by Mexico to...
	140. Also instructive is the decision in Burlington Resources v. Ecuador, in which the claimant (Burlington) held investment interests in two crude oil field blocks pursuant to certain production-sharing contracts with Ecuador.  After a series of run-...
	141. Here, Claimants committed large amounts of capital to obtain Commodities which, pursuant to the Investment Agreements, were physically stored in SAMIR’s tanks for a period of time, as specified in the corresponding transaction confirmation.255F  ...
	142. According to all accounts, in or around August 2015, Respondent outright seized the assets at SAMIR’s refining facilities and then, having effectively taken over the refinery, deliberately directed the sale of products within SAMIR’s facilities i...
	143. Approximately 960,000 metric ton equivalents of Claimants’ Commodities were disposed of without Claimants’ consent and without any compensation to Claimants for the nearly $430 million invested.257F   Because Claimants’ Commodities were put direc...
	(b) Indirect Expropriation

	144. Regarding indirect expropriation, the FTA indicates that it must be determined pursuant to a “case-by-case, fact-based inquiry” which factors in, among other things, “(i) the economic impact of the government action . . . ; (ii) the extent to whi...
	145. As noted above, “there is considerable authority for the proposition that contract rights [and other intangible property] are entitled to the protection of international law and that the taking of such rights involves an obligation to make compen...
	146. Indeed, investment tribunals have held that the “essential question” for a determination of indirect expropriation is “whether the enjoyment of the property has been effectively neutralized.”261F   As the Tecmed tribunal explained:
	147. For example, in SPP v. Egypt, claimants entered into a contractual arrangement with the Egyptian government’s tourism department to develop certain sites for tourism.263F   Mere months after the development plan was approved and construction bega...
	148. An indirect expropriation was also found in Middle East Cement Shipping & Handling Co. v. Arab Republic of Egypt, where claimant operated a cement import, storage, and dispatching business in accordance with a ten-year free-zone license.  Several...
	149. Finally, in Certain German Interests in Polish Upper Silesia, Poland took possession of a factory, the management and operation of which was handled by a managing company called Bayerische pursuant to certain patents and contracts.268F   The Perm...
	150. Respondent’s actions are most directly analogous to those in Chorzów I, but the effect of its actions on Claimants’ Investments is of the same destructive magnitude as in all of the cases noted in the preceding paragraphs.  Respondent undeniably ...
	151. As discussed above in Sections III and IV, Claimants’ contractual Put Rights gave them an option to sell their Commodities back to SAMIR at a fixed “purchase price” designated in the Confirmations.270F   In order for Claimants to exercise their P...
	152. Obviously, Respondent did not literally usurp Claimants’ Put Rights by, for example, substituting itself into Claimants’ Investment Agreements with SAMIR.  However, by freezing and sweeping SAMIR’s bank accounts and seizing and directing the disp...
	153. In other words, although Claimants “retain[ed] nominal ownership”272F  of their Put Rights (in that Claimants remained contractually entitled to exercise their Put Rights), without the Commodities, Claimants literally had nothing to sell back to ...
	ii. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not for a Public Purpose

	154. Respondent’s expropriation was also unlawful under the FTA because it did not serve any public purpose.  There was no public, government-propagated announcement declaring, let alone explaining, the reason for, the seizure of SAMIR’s refining faci...
	155. While Article 10.6.1 of the FTA exempts an expropriation that, among other things, was “for a public purpose,” the alleged public purpose must be more than a mere pretext for an otherwise unlawful expropriation.
	156. In Yukos Universal Limited v. Russian Federation, shareholders of Yukos, the leading oil company (and largest taxpayer) of Russia, claimed that Russia wrongfully dispossessed Yukos of its assets and thereby expropriated Claimants by (i) levying m...
	157. Russia argued that those actions were justified by “the purposes [of] . . . imposition and enforcement of taxes, including severe penalties, fines and other sanctions in case of non-compliance of taxpayers with their obligations to pay taxes,” an...
	158. The totality of the evidence led the tribunal to conclude that “the primary objective of the Russian Federation was not to collect taxes but rather to bankrupt Yukos and appropriate its valuable assets.”276F   The tribunal thus found “profoundly ...
	159. Similarly, although the news media indicated that the Moroccan tax authority had seized assets at SAMIR’s refinery due to unpaid taxes, Respondent’s conduct was disproportionately harsh and even if tax payments were due – which SAMIR denied – cou...
	160. Not only did the Government suspend harbor activities and completely debilitate the normal operations of SAMIR, Morocco’s only oil refinery, Respondent also froze and swept SAMIR’s bank accounts.279F   Respondent also directed SAMIR to sell Carly...
	161. When it became apparent that its good-faith negotiation efforts were not succeeding, SAMIR sought (but failed to obtain) an amicable settlement with the Government but was eventually forced into liquidation.  To this day, SAMIR has still failed t...
	162. To say Respondent’s conduct was in the name of public interest is just as “profoundly questionable,” if not more so, than Russia’s assertion to that effect in Yukos.  As the owner and operator of the only refinery in Morocco, SAMIR—and Claimants’...
	iii. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not Taken Upon Payment of Prompt, Adequate, and Effective Compensation

	163. Respondent’s expropriation also was not lawful because Respondent failed to pay any compensation to Claimants for the taking.  Even if Respondent’s conduct could be deemed an expropriation “for public purpose” under Article 10.16(1) of the FTA, w...
	164. Compensation is “prompt, adequate, and effective” under the FTA only if it “(a) [is] paid without delay; (b) [is] equivalent to the fair market value of the expropriated investment immediately before the expropriation took place . . . ; (c) [does...
	165. There is no dispute that Respondent never has returned to Claimants any of its Commodities or cash proceeds for those Commodities, nor offered any compensation to Claimants for their substantial losses arising from Respondent’s expropriation.283F...
	iv. Respondent’s Expropriation Was Not In Accordance With Due Process of Law

	166. Respondent’s actions also were unlawful because due process was not afforded to Claimants prior to or after the taking, in violation of Article 10.6.1, which requires any expropriation to take place in accordance with due process of law.
	167. In ADC Affiliate Ltd. and ADC & ADMC Mgmt. Ltd. v. The Republic of Hungary, the investment tribunal noted that due process of law in the expropriation context requires the host government to provide a legitimate, substantive legal procedure for t...
	168. In light of these requirements, the ADC tribunal held that Hungary had failed to provide due process to claimants when it passed a decree that hindered claimants from further providing services at the Budapest-Ferihegy International Airport. The ...
	169. Here, Claimants first learned of Respondent’s actions via email on or about August 7, 2015.287F   At that time, Claimants were led to believe that there was only a partial – and temporary – shutdown of SAMIR’s operations; there was no formal or d...
	170. Like the claimants in ADC, who only received notice of the expropriating decree after it had already been issued and three business days before they were forced to vacate, Claimants were never given any opportunity to object to such actions prior...
	171. In sum, because Respondent ordered the disposal of Claimants’ Commodities and eviscerated Claimants’ contractual Put Rights for no discernible public purpose and without compensation for Respondent’s taking or any mechanism of due process, Respon...


	VI. Claimants Sustained Substantial Damages as a Result of Respondent’s Breaches of the FTA
	A. Due to its Breaches of the FTA, the Kingdom of Morocco Has the Legal Obligation to Compensate Claimants for their Losses
	172. Having established Respondent’s liability for the above breaches of the FTA, Respondent should now be compelled to make full reparation for the damages caused to Claimants by the illegal conduct. As explained in the Walck Report, as of the date o...
	173. The full reparation damages standard under international law was first established by the Permanent Court of International Justice (PCIJ) in the Case Concerning the Factory at Chorzów in 1928. There, the PCIJ found:
	174. This standard has since been codified in Article 31 of the International Law Commission’s Articles on the Responsibility of States for Internationally Wrongful Acts (the “ILC Articles”), which reads:
	175. In addition, numerous international tribunals have applied this standard to award damages under investment treaties.292F
	176. According to the ILC Articles, full reparation may take several forms, including restitution, compensation and satisfaction. Articles 34 and 36 state as follows in this regard:
	177. As the above Articles reflect, when restitution is not available, as is the case here, compensation may be used to fully repair the damages caused by an international illegal act by a State.  Per Article 36(1) of the ILC Articles, as noted, compe...
	178. The international standard of compensation must complement any compensation rules found in the underlying investment treaty.294F   In this case, Article 10.6 of the FTA (on expropriation) describes the specific features of the compensation that i...
	179. In sum, compensation that is compliant with Article 10.6 of the FTA must include “the fair market value of the expropriated investment on the date of expropriation” plus “interest at a commercially reasonable rate . . . , accrued from the date of...
	180. For purposes of Article 10.6.2(b) of the FTA, “the date of the expropriation” is August 7, 2015, or the date on which the Government seized the refinery and froze SAMIR’s bank accounts. According to the above principles, Claimants have calculated...

	B. Claimants’ Losses as a Result of Respondent’s Breaches
	181. As detailed above in Sections IV and V, Respondent’s seizure of the assets in SAMIR’s refinery and subsequent freezing of its bank accounts prevented Claimants from exercising their contractual Put Right per the Investment Contracts.  In addition...
	182. Claimants have engaged the services of Mr. Richard E. Walck, a partner and co-founder of Global Financial Analytics LLC, to quantify their losses as a result of Respondent’s actions in connection with the Investments.  Mr. Walck has analyzed each...
	183. In compliance with Article 10.6.2 of the FTA, Mr. Walck calculated Carlyle’s losses by including the value of the Commodities and of the Put Right immediately before the expropriation occurred (i.e., on August 7, 2015). The historic costs of Carl...
	184. Mr. Walck then used the net costs in the table above to calculate the value of Carlyle’s Put Rights with respect to each Transaction that was still open on the date of the expropriation.300F   Pursuant to those calculations, Claimants’ total Put ...
	185. The total net cost of the Commodities and the total value of Claimants’ Put Rights were then added together to determine Carlyle’s total Investments.  These results are summarized in Table 2 below:302F
	186. Finally, Mr. Walck adjusted Claimants’ total losses to reflect the $8,348,949 payment to Carlyle in connection with the October 1, 2015 Forbearance Agreement. As a result, Claimants’ net losses comprise the $399,498,477 value of its Investments f...

	C. Interest
	187. As noted in Section A above, Claimants are entitled to claim interest “at a commercially reasonable rate” under Article 10.6.3 of the FTA. Further, under international law, “interest is part of the ‘full’ reparation to which the Claimants are ent...
	188. As observed by the tribunal in Hrvatska v. Slovenia:
	189. Since interest has the purpose of compensating the injured party for both the time value of money and the loss of opportunity associated with the use of that money, the rate used is determined on a case-by-case basis.
	190. In this case, Carlyle’s Put Right was based on an interest rate of 3-month LIBOR plus a premium of 4.75%, as initially agreed by the parties.307F  The Put Right continued to accrue interest at that rate until the exercise of the Put Right by Carl...
	191. Finally, Mr. Walck used quarterly compounding, so that the compounding period and the interest rate period would match.310F  Thus, the interest calculated by Mr. Walck according to the above adds $109,543,756 to Carlyle’s damages, bringing its to...


	VII. Request for Relief
	192. For all of the reasons set forth in the above Memorial, Claimants respectfully request an award in their favor:
	193. Claimants also request that the Tribunal order any other and further relief that it deems available and appropriate in the circumstances.




